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Preface

In 2000 I began writing my personal story of my military experience.  This was most likely prompted by the movie ‘Saving Private Ryan’.  It is some of those little known, behind the scenes, stories that can be very interesting.  My experience is not ‘front line’ or out of a firebase in Vietnam.  My story is simply…my story.  What I did.  Where I went.  How I existed for 4 years of my life.  At the very least it is my story simply to be passed on to my children and their children.  I want them to know what I did.

I was in the Navy from June 25, 1968 - June 20, 1972.  The dash that separates those two dates is contained in these pages.  Three years, 11 months and 25 days. 

It has taken me almost as long to write about that dash as it did to live it.

I hope you enjoy the dash.

The reason I joined
In July of 1967 I was 19 years old; the perfect age to be drafted and flown off to some far off land where little pieces of steel and lead buzzed by your head like wicked gnats.   However, I was also involved in a motorcycle accident that dislocated my right shoulder.  (I ran my right arm through a driver side car window at 50mph!!)  Actually I almost lost my arm.  I had three broken ribs, a massive cut on the upper inside of my arm, took 21 stitches, and a separated shoulder.  I also had a very large gash the entire length of my forearm.  The injuries amounted to my being reclassified to 1Y, Medical Deferment, with the draft.

The accident occurred on July 10, 1967.  For the next 6 months I lived a life free of almost any care.  Len York and myself became very close as I was unable to drive, we used his 1964 Chevy Corvair for almost everything we did.

As the end of the year approached there was more and more news about Viet Nam.  Throughout the early ‘60’s, demonstrations over our involvement in the war in Viet Nam were being staged.  Nineteen Sixty Six was a volatile time.  It seemed everyone was protesting the war.  Woodstock was simply a gathering of a million people who all believed the war in Viet Nam was unjust.  The crux of the matter was the very fact that we were even there.  ‘War’ had never been officially declared.  Therefore having Americans dying in a ‘Conflict’ seemed not only senseless, but ill-moral as well.  

Because of all  the publicity and turmoil over this war, we as young men had to be thinking about the future.  I personally believe that the very fear of the war, of the possibilities over dying in that war, the public resentment over it, brought on more and more demonstrations as a way to possibly prevent themselves from having to go and fight a war that seemed doomed from the beginning.  No one wants to die, especially for no good reason.

Some of my friends were talking about going to Canada to avoid the draft.  Wilbur’s brother Marvin did just that.  For myself, I had grown up with a father who prided himself on having served in the Second World War.  He was part of the D-Day invasion; went all the way through Europe; fought in the Battle of the Bulge, and ultimately completed the war as victor in Germany.  He would tell me how they were received as heroes in France, Belgium, parts of Germany.  He was very proud of his service for his country.

At the same time he also related to me ‘how’ he managed to

 accomplish all this.  Not long ago I went to see the movie, ‘Saving Private Ryan’.  The opening 20 minutes of this film depicts the Normandy landings and the horrific slaughter the Americans, British, Canadians and Australians faced as they came ashore right into 50 caliber machine guns.  The fronts of the Higgins Boats would drop and the entire boat would be gunned down before even one man could escape.  The GI’s would be neck deep in water weighted down with 80lbs of supplies.  Many drowned simply because they could not swim or keep their heads above water.
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My overwhelming thought throughout this movie was, ‘How in the world did ANYONE survive?”  The answer is, we had more men than the Germans had bullets!!  It was that cut and dried.  We also had incredible individuals who knew what they were doing and why they were doing it.  They had a reason and a dream.

How did my dad survive this terrible onslaught?  Back in the states he happened to fall into being a cook.  He became 2nd cook then 1st cook.  By the time they were in England and moving toward the Normandy Invasion, he was 10 days behind the front lines cooking for the support troops and those moving through as replacements.  He was involved.  He was there.  He served his country and he was proud of it.
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As January 1968 passed, the news of the TET Offensive brought scenes of Viet Nam and dead and dying GI’s I realized one thing; the war was on land, not water.  The Viet Cong and North Viet Namese did not have boats.  If I had to fulfill my duty as an American I would join the Navy.  Although it was 2 years longer then the Army or Marines, I calculated it would be a life insurance policy.  That and it also made me in control.  At the same time I would make my father proud of me for serving.  Running away was not an option.  My only option was to create the best lifestyle I possibly could.  

On February 10, 1968, six months to the day of my accident and medical deferment, I was re-classified back to 1A.  This was one month after the 1968 Tet Offensive, the worst battle thus far in the war for the number of Americans lost.  I could feel the postman on my heels with my draft notice.  I had to do something quick.  Ron Berwald and I went to the Navy recruiter and signed up with one stipulation.  I asked to be able to finish out my school year.  This would give me two full years of schooling in Design Drafting at Pierce College.  The Navy agreed and on June 25, 1968 Ron and I were driven to Los Angeles to the Military Induction Center. We were put on a bus and driven down to San Diego to the Naval Training Center, Boot camp.

I have never regretted joining the Navy.  If given the same circumstances again, I might make exactly the same decision.
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Boot Camp June 1968

        Boot Camp 
June 25, 1968 - Aug 15, 1968
I arrived at the Naval Training Center, NTC, in the early afternoon of June 25, 1968, approximately 4 hours after leaving Los Angeles.  It all seems fuzzy to me now.  I think confusion and fear of what might happen prevented me from actually seeing and understanding what did happen.

Ron and I went into the Navy together on the ‘Buddy Plan’.  This was explained to us as a way that friends could be together throughout their Tour of Duty.  However, this is actually just a recruiter’s ploy to get twice as many guys to sign up.  The entire Military is organized by last name!!!  His last name was Berwald, mine, Marriott.  We had to sneak, lie, cut and drop in and out of lines in order to even stay together on the bus ride to San Diego.  When we got off the bus we were grouped with about 10 other busses that had come from any number of western states.  Once again Ron dropped out of line and got back with me and we were able to stay in the same company, a group of 64 men, 8 squads of 8.  We were Company 450.  I am sure there were some other designations connected with that but I have no idea what they were,

Navy Boot camp is drastically different then the images you might have from the movies of the Army and Marines.  In comparison, Navy Boot is pretty simple.  Essentially what it amounted to was some basic education of the Naval system, terms, ranks, and job opportunities within the Navy.  The rest of the 10 week stay at Boot Camp was learning to take orders, get along with people you could actually kill in another life, and practicing for graduation.  

Taking orders was pretty easy for me.  You simply did what you were told or you faced the consequences of not!!  Those consequences were demonstrated by others if you just kept your eyes open and watched a little bit.  One of the worst was simply holding a pencil at arm’s length.  It takes no time to inject tons of pain on the shoulders and never even touch the person!!!

Getting along with others was a little bit more difficult for some.  I simply kept my mouth shut and again my eyes open and was able to master the art of ‘getting along’.  Some however, were not as successful.  On occasions fights broke out over the smallest of incidents.  Most of these would not last long as the barracks personnel would take control pretty quick.  However, the individuals were given the chance to vent their anger by becoming the Friday night ‘Smoker’ or boxing match.  I never went to these but I heard the animosity continued and the fights were quite brutal.

Now ‘practice’ had a totally different purpose and ultimate goal.  Practice was in the form of washing and ironing clothes, marching with our company and along with the other 10-15 companies and performing rifle drills with a WWII M1-rifle.  All this was to look the best possible during graduation for all the friends and family that would show up.  That was the crux of boot camp:  Learn a little bit about the Navy and look good for one day!!
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The other aspect of Boot camp that became overwhelmingly clear was the fact that you were highly discouraged from being different.  I believe it was hour one in boot camp that we were all marched to a warehouse and issued our ‘Seabag’.  The Seabag consisted of our entire issue of clothing we were expected to wear for the next 4 years.  God forbid if you possibly got the wrong size!!  You were stuck with it.  (I did see one very small young man that was issued normal sized pants and shirt.  He was literally swimming in them and he stayed that way for several weeks until his company Commander finally got him something else.)  The following day we were marched to the ‘Barber Shop’ for the typical Boot camp hair cut.  When this is over, all personal identity, except for the shape of your nose, or how your ears stick out, has been removed. (This is not unlike being assimilated into the ‘Collective’!!)  Day 3 starts the process of attempting to remove most of the individuality out of your mind as well.  The lesson was pretty obvious; “Don’t be different!”

Here are two individuals that are a total mystery; ‘Mutt & Jeff’ we called them.  Jeff is standing on a stool.  Mutt is standing on the floor and is still taller!!  I don’t remember their names but I do know that Mutt did not last all the way through Boot Camp.  He was kind of goofy and didn’t seem to ever have grown into his body. 

I watched individuals who would not conform, or become part of the whole, literally be beaten.  The sick aspect of this is that the mind games cause the rest of the company to met out this forced conformity.  If one in the company makes a mistake, the entire company gets to enjoy the punishment.   Punishment was in the form of marching, push-ups, or simply holding a pencil at arms length for....oh until your arms fall off!!  Later in the cover of darkness, the offending individual is brought to justice via a ‘blanket party’.  During the night, any number of individuals from 2 to several would attack the one who created the original offense, throw a blanket over him and proceed to literally beat him.  The blanket protected the identity of the attackers.  It also provided an amount of cushion to the blows, thereby not actually causing too much harm.  However, on occasion, repeated offenses or a particularly bad ‘screw-up’ that caused a lot of pain on the company, more then just fists were used. ‘Boon-dockers’, the heavy boots we were issued, were used to intensify the beating.  Sometimes broom handles better suited the pain replacement.  On occasion, when the company had been severely punished for some mistake, padlocks used in the form of brass knuckles or even the rifle butts were used.  The butt of an M-1 can radically and quickly alter your intense desire to be an individual.

I am happy to say that I only took part in one mild blanket party.  I believe it was more to scare the sailor then to hurt him.  I am also proud to say that I was never the brunt of such a learning experience.  We did have one individual who messed up so many times, and was seemingly totally unable to ‘get with the program’ that after a lock style blanket party one night, he disappeared from our company.  (I heard he was given a discharge as being unfit for duty.)

For some reason our company was not very competitive. Throughout Boot camp there were various contests and competitions.  The only one we ever made good on was the Rope Climb.  When we graduated I will never forget the announcer listing off the award of the other companies.  Long lists it seemed like.  Ten or 12 different ones.  When he got to us, “Company 450,  Winner of the Rope Climb award.”    I think it had something to do with the fact that our company commander was a soon to be retired Chief.  At the time I had no idea what rate he was.  All I remember is that as we would go to classes or competitions, he would go fishing!!!  Sort of left us with a lost feeling actually.  We just did what we needed to do to get by.

Daily life in Boot camp is pretty simple as well.  ‘Revile’ at 4:30. Shower, dress and ‘Muster’
 by 5:15.  March to breakfast, eat and march back to the barracks to brush teeth and inspection.  Inspection was the one place you were scrutinized and made the brunt of wrath of those in charge.  Anything not perfect was quickly put on display and the days activities revolved around learning how to conquer this horrible personal trait that would have brought the free world to it’s knees if the fact ever escaped North Island!! 7am was the first class and then classes and exercise until noon.  Exercise consisted of learning how to march.  How to work the rifle and just plain old push-ups and jumping jacks for what seemed hours on end.  Noon was lunch, march there and back.  Afternoons were a repeat of mornings. March to dinner or ‘chow’ as it was called then once more back to the barracks.

Evening duties revolved around the washing and ironing practice and then the ubiquitous polishing of the shoes.  We had two pairs of shoes; boon-dockers and dress.  The dress shoes actually shined up nicely.  The boon-dockers never did.  It took hours of spit shining to make them look nice.  Spit shining is an art, one that some learned well and fast, and other’s paid for the service.

Classes varied from day to day.  One day was protocol. The next was navy terms.  We got a basic naval education in the 10 weeks in boot camp.

Now you can see the regiment and the importance placed on conformity.  One item that I had to deal with was a little tiny habit I had, chap stick.  I simply had to have my chap stick at all times.  I watched a guy have to do 100 push-ups for having lent in his pocket.  I could only imagine what contraband like Chap stick would warrant.  However, I had to have it none the less and managed to carry a tube every day.  Most of the time I tucked it in the curve of my web belt we were made to ware.  I had colored the top of it black to blend in with the shadows and managed to never get caught with it.  I simply did not make waves in any other aspect of the whole experience.  My attitude was that I had volunteered for this and it was still better then what ever the Army had for me.  I was willing to conform in all areas except this one little tiny one.  I was just lucky.  Had it ever dropped from my belt, or had one of those in authority found it, I would have been in deep ‘doodoo’.  Blanket parties were given for far less infractions. 

Throughout my entire experience in the Navy I can say there is only one part that I truly regret.  Somewhere in that first week in boot camp, we were asked who would like to try out for the choir.  I had no idea what it meant exactly but since I had been singing for about 8 years by this time, I figured I would give it a try.  Spike went with me.  It took about 45 minutes to find out that I passed the audition and Spike didn’t.  Since those who would join the choir would leave their present company, and because Spike and I had made this promise to stick together, I passed up this opportunity.  I was to learn later that this was not just some company choir, but the Navy Choir itself.  I can look back on it today and feel some satisfaction, “I made the Navy Choir”.  But I also had made a promise.  My word was worth more then my own personal desires.  I turned it down.  Spike and I stayed together in the same company for the duration of Boot Camp.

As we look back on our life certain times and memories always stick out.  These are the stories that are passed down from father to son, son to grandson.

One such story for me is our week in the Kitchen.  Week 5 is always kitchen week.  This way no one group is stuck with the job the entire time.  Each week a different company would take on the job of cooking and preparing ‘chow’.  

Spike, myself and several others were assigned to the kitchen itself.  One morning we had to fill seven 30 gallon aluminum tubs with cracked eggs.  We were given cases upon cases of eggs to crack.  A case consisted of 12 layers of eggs, 12x12. 1728 eggs to a case and we must have had 100+ cases of eggs to crack.  One at a time is very slow work, even when there are 6 or more of you doing it.  One guy got good at two handed cracking.  I just plain got tired of doing it.  (My ADD took over!)  I started just taking 5-6 eggs at a time and crushing them on the sides of the tub.  Crack!.. ooze.  Crack!...ooze.  Well more like ‘Smash...ooze’, ‘Smash ....ooze’.  After about 5 or 6 layers of eggs, I would reach down in the bottom and scoop out the shells.  Shake off the majority of the yokes and white and throw the shells away.

Seemed to work so well the other guys started doing it as well.  We got done so fast cracking all the eggs that they didn’t know what else for us to do so we got to go lay out on the lawn for about 2 hours!  That was a good day!

Another time we were set to work breading steaks.  One table, three guys on one side, three on the other.  The first one would put fresh steaks into pans in front of the middle guy on the other side.  The pans had scrambled eggs in them. (Probably from the ones we had done prior!)  The steaks were swished, both sides through the eggs, two at a time and tossed both ways, left and right, into pans with flour.  The two guys on the outside took them from the flour and put them on cookie sheets and put them in the rotating ovens.

At one point, not sure how this happened but I was the steak egg guy.  I inadvertently flipped some egg on one of the guys.  He thought I did it on purpose and suddenly there was a full fledged food fight!!!  We had steaks, eggs, flour not only all of us but all over the floor as well.  The floor was brick type tile with wide grout between.  Before it was all said and done, it took about 2 hours to clean up the floor with tooth brushes.  The whole time we were still laughing at what we had done.  It really was funny.  (I don’t remember getting into trouble over it either.  Just had to clean up that lousy floor!)

’A’ School - Memphis, Tennessee
Sept. 1968 - March, 1969
The last week of Boot camp brought the all important ‘School Choices’ week.  Our classes became a run down of all the different types of ‘occupations’ or ‘rates’ we could choose to work in the rest of our stay in the Navy.  We were not told where the schools were as too many people were picking rates based on location instead of content.  My first choice was Photographer’s Mate.  I wanted to be involved with photography.  We actually had 6 choices for a school.  That way they were supposed to look for openings in your chosen rates from #1 to #6 in that order.  (As I found out later the personally designed Navy career is not really what the government intended.  What they wanted is for you to ‘feel’ like you had a choice.  Then they would fill ‘billets’ or positions where they needed you the most.  If the two happened to coincide super.  If not?  Oh well.  Get over it!)

I was told that Photo Mate was pretty much closed.  Everyone wanted that.  My second choice was to fly.  I wanted to fly in whatever capacity possible.  I was told that a new rate had just opened up called ASW, Antisubmarine Warfare Technician.  The school was in Memphis, Tenn.  This made no difference to me as long as I could fly.
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After boot camp I took 2 weeks leave to re-unite with family and friends, see the girlfriends and all.  After this I was off to Memphis, Tenn.  As I remember I took a United flight to Tennessee.  The military flies stand-by so it is a maybe you will and maybe you won’t get on a flight.  It seems to me it only cost $50 to fly from Los Angeles to Memphis.

I don’t actually remember landing in Memphis, but I do remember taking a bus out to the base, about 40 miles north in Millington.  This was the same bus we would take back to the city for weekend excursions. I honestly don’t know how I found out about it.  The military sort of warps your mind to the point that you don’t think for yourself.  You simply take orders and do what you are told to do.  I think when I got off the plane someone simply told me where to go and what to do.  I did.

Riding to Millington was exciting to me.  This was the first time I would spend a winter where snow fell.  It was also the first time, except for the summer in Colorado, that I would be away from home for any extended period of time.  The fall colors were very pretty.  I remember seeing yellow and red trees as we traveled down the highway and thinking how different it looked from my native Southern California.  The September sun was very low in the sky and you could feel that crisp air.  One of the things I wanted to do was skate on a frozen lake.  I was excited at the thought.  As it turned out it did not get cold enough to freeze lakes in that area.

Somewhere in the first couple of days, I remember sitting in one of the first classes, and a Chief was talking to us.  He said that they were only taking 20 ASW rates per week.  He also said that anyone who was not chosen would be ‘shipped’ across the street to Avionics.  I suppose I didn’t think that I wouldn’t be chosen and therefore was not too worried what that meant.  As it turned out I was not selected and sent immediately to the Avionics school.  I have always said that I was simply 21 on the list.

Avionics Technician, AT, dealt in the electronics of an airplane.  Radios, navigation equipment, and anything else that was not the basic plane wiring.  (Plane wires were ET’s, Electrical Technician, or more affectionately known as ‘One Wires’

Life at NATTC was simply going to school 5 days a week.  The added incentive for doing good was a constant threat of being ‘sent to the line’
 if we dropped out or failed to accomplish just about anything.

The routine was pretty simple.

•  5am revilie 

•  6am march to breakfast

•  7am first classes

•  Smoke breaks on the hour. (Made no difference, they smoked all day long.)

•  Noon march to lunch

•  1pm o’clock back in classes

•  Suck smoke in the classes all afternoon

•  4pm classes were over.  March back to the barracks.

•  5-7pm dinner was served.  We simply walked over in our own groups.

•  Evenings were spent doing laundry, ironing, shoe polishing or watching TV

•  10pm Taps

•  Midnight, 2am, or 4am - Watch 

 

At one time in my Memphis training I realized that ‘smokers’ were allowed
breaks where as ‘non-smokers’ had no need to leave and so were not allowed to.
Thinking this was a point of discrimination, I did smoke for a short time.
Well... not really smoked. .. I just burned!!!  Would light up a cigarette
but then never actually smoke it... just let it burn.  My breaks were
always longer then theirs!!
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The main highlight of ‘A’ school in Millington was one of the WAVES that was in our class.  Well there were 3 WAVES so there were three highlights for me.  One lived about 40 minutes north of the base in a town called Mumford, Tenn.  We used to drive up there on weekends and just had a ball with her parents.  There were three WAVES, and so three of we guys went too.  I can’t remember her name but the little one was Marsha.  We got along pretty well actually.  Had some fun times.  One of the guys we went with, Brandy, was an absolute kick too.  He used to say he was a twin but his ‘..brother died coming down the chute’.  I have no idea if it were true or not.  He was just funny and we always had fun.

We used to go for drives and hikes and always were laughing at Brandy mainly.  This picture was one of those weekends in Mumford, Tenn.  We had driven out to someplace not far from the house and went for a walk.  I can see the fields even today.  All the little oaks were leafless.  Brandy was running around down in a draw.  The girls were up by me and we were just laughing.

One weekend we all went into Memphis.  We had to take the bus in from Millington and it was about a 45 minute ride.  I remember we couldn’t go into any bars because none of us were old enough, but once again I managed to acquire some beer, whisky and Slo Gin.  Somewhere along the line 4 of us ended up in a motel.  Marsha and I made Gin Fizzes and made out on one of the beds until we both passed out!!  Nothing else happened that night that I know of.

Another time we had gone to the North Side.  The base was split in half by a highway.  On the North side of the highway was the NCO club.  We could go over there, listen to music have a few drinks and only had to walk back across the street to get to the barracks.  I remember one night Brandy and I were jumping around in a mud puddle after having been in the club for a couple of hours.  I laugh to this day but have no idea what brought it on or why we were doing it.

There was once when we must have been at the North side club.  We were walking down that road that split the base.  I remember we were passing around a bottle of Jack Daniels when lights approached us from behind.  As I looked over my shoulder to see who was coming I veered to the right and stepped off the road into a ditch.  To this day I can remember the earth suddenly dropping away and I rolled down this hill into a pool of water at the bottom.  I was laughing all the way down, hit the water and then all the way back up the ditch to the side of the road.  Of course that trip back up the ditch was on my hands and knees because I could not even stand up!  Once I got back up there Brandy and the other guys were talking to the driver of the car.  Turns out it was a cop and now I was really busting up!!  I could not keep from laughing thinking that this cop just watched the Guardian of Freedom rolling down into a ditch of water drunker then a skunk!

Life was fun in Memphis.  I decided that Southern women were religious so on Sundays I was off to church.  Found myself a Baptist church I would go to from time to time and was always invited out to Sunday dinner at someone’s home.  Never met any women but the home cooked food was fantastic.  I didn’t take advantage of this scam though.  Used to go to different churches!!

North Island 1969 VS-41

VS-41  The Shamrocks
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The military has a way of being very ironic.  I went to Memphis to become an ASW, Anti-Submarine Warfare Technician.  This would have given me the opportunity to fly as crew on the ASW patrols.  They took that away from me in Memphis and pushed me across the street to the AT school.  After graduation from Memphis, I was given my first real duty station:  VS-41,  NAS, North Island, San Diego, California.  What is VS-41?  An Anti-Submarine Squadron!!

The official home page of VS-41   http://www.globalsecurity.org/military/agency/navy/vs-41.htm
 

 

‘Doc’ was my first roommate at North Island.  I lived in the main part of the barracks at that time.  Barracks life was always nasty.  The noise simply penetrated down the ‘cubes’ and you were never really alone.  TV’s, radios, conversations and all manner of confusion permeated the barracks.

 

Doc was from someplace in the East.  Not really sure where now.  In fact not even sure what his real name was.  Everybody called him ‘Doc’.  He was not a corpsman or anything like that but for some unknown reason to me now, he was Doc.

 

He was sort of the quiet kind.  Never was loud or rowdy, except for a couple of times when he got drunk.  But then a lot of people are that way.  He was a pretty good roommate actually.  Well, cube mate.  All we had to live in was a ‘cube’, a space about 15’ square with either two single beds or one double rack.  We had the two bed version, two dressers, one table to share, and a couple of lamps.  This was life in the barracks.   The worst part was the constant noise.  Everyone wanted to have his own radio station on, or were talking or joking or laughing or what ever.  There was just always noise.  Along with that there was no privacy.  No doors on the cubes, except maybe a curtain and only if you rigged it yourself.   I think this was one reason Doc and I got away so much.

  

Within the first couple of weeks of being stationed in San Diego I took a bus home and brought my 1957 Ford back down.  It was not a super fancy car but it was mine and gave me the freedom to get around on liberty.
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The major item my Ford had was a large trunk.  After a trip or two to the Valley to see Liz and the family I had cabbaged onto enough camping gear to get me through a long weekend just about anyplace.  I had a tent, couple of sleeping bags, food box, camp stove and camp box containing pots and pans, and the essentials of eating out.  And of course the lantern.

 

I also had two rifles hidden behind the wheel well covers in the trunk.  (This, no doubt, broke a dozen different ordinances and both state and federal laws, but... as with my chap stick.. I did it anyway!!!)  

 

On Friday afternoons Doc would say, “Let go someplace!”   It took me approximately 15 minutes to rack up my two surf boards and we could do anything from the beach to the mountains, and often did.  
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One weekend we took off early Saturday morning.  We were not sure where we were headed so I racked up the boards and off we went.  I think I spent my entire check on gas for the Ford.  Anyway we took off and for some reason we went east out of San Diego.  There is not much east of San Diego.  The Sierras sort of wind down and are mostly just low rolling hills.  Mt. Palomar is the tallest point around.  We just kept driving until we ended up out at the Salton Sea.  What a strange picture that was.  Beige Ford with a 9’ 4” orange surfboard in the middle of the desert near a mud hole called the Salton Sea. 

Many nights were used going to the cliffs or beach, eating oysters and drinking beer.   I started taking my camera and took a lot of pictures in and around the San Diego area.  I actually had a great time with Doc and Denny.  I didn’t expect to enjoy the Navy so much!!

Dennis Juelfs:   At some point I met Dennis Juelfs.  I really don’t even know now how we met.  He was a very outgoing and maybe even a loud type of guy, especially when he was drinking!!  Denny was from a place called Correctionville, Iowa.  He said it was so named because the town itself straddled the county line.  (This was probably because of where the line was and how the town grew up around that area.)  Anyway, at some point the city fathers decided to correct the problem of having some businesses in two counties, half the tax base in the wrong county, etc, etc.  Therefore they ‘realigned’ the county line in that area and took it around the town so as to put the entire town into only one county, then renamed the town to ‘Correctionville’.  (Now this is all what Denny said so I can imagine that very well could have been all mouth gas!!)

Anyway where I first remember much about Denny is when they opened up a storage room upstairs in the Barracks.  Somehow Denny got the Barracks Chief talked into allowing us to remodel that room and move into it for our own room.  Now this was a major coup.  It had a door, which could be locked, and it was away from the main barracks, which gave us some quiet.

We did some patching to the walls, painted the entire place a nice ‘60s green and even found some paneling to put up on two walls.  We found two good twin [image: image16.jpg]


beds, scraped up some headboards and found some decent bedspreads.  I brought in a stereo from someplace, mounted the speakers in the upper corners of the room.  We had two lamps that just seemed to set a really nice ‘glow’ on the room.
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In “A” school I learned about resistor/capacitor, RC, circuits.  A batter is run across a resistor that is in parallel with a capacitor.  In series with this duo is a small bulb.  The resistor allows the capacitor to charge at a known rate.  When the capacitor is fully charged it discharges through the bulb which causes it to flash or blink.  By running a complete series of these mini systems over a board you could make a ‘Flicker Light’, which many of the AT’s and ET’s did.  During the ‘60’s things of this nature containing movement, created a psychedelic feel, were very colorful and were used to ‘trip’ on while using Acid or some other mind altering drug.  I took this basic idea and developed my own flicker light that was just a bit more esthetic.  (PS.... I have never done these types of drugs.  I just liked the idea of making the light!)

I took an 11x14 oak picture frame and mounted a 1/8” peg board covered in crinkled aluminum foil.  The circuitry was on the back side with the bulbs glued through the peg board and sticking out in front.  The crinkled foil hid the bulbs and reflected the flash of light.

A 90 volt battery was mounted in the back with a small switch to turn it on and off.  This was one sweet flicker light!  It hung in a prominent place on the wall in our room

The other ‘60’s thing we used to do were ‘Zilches’.  A zilch was incredibly cheap entertainment and easy to make, albeit a bit dangerous.  The ingredients for a zilch are; One plastic dry cleaning bag, one coffee can, one hanger, and one match.

Instructions: Tie the plastic bag in knots about 3 inches apart, hang it from a hook in the ceiling on the hanger.  Place the coffee can or metal trash can under the beast and then light the bottom of the now knotted bag.  As the flames lick up the plastic it drips making a buzzing sound with each drip.  When the flames melt the knots they drop and create a ‘zilch’ sound, thus the name.  We had a zilch hook in one corner of the room specifically for this form of diversion.  Seemed to go along with my pyro tendencies quite well.  Denny and I would invite people in, tell them to bring a beer as we were about to light a zilch.  I am sure a few would go get loaded on dope or something first, but I really don’t know.  We would burn one about once a week, usually on Friday or Saturday nights.

I think the one thing that stands out almost the most was something that occurred one day after coming back from work.  We had had some Budweiser over the weekend.  There was only one or two left.  I had specifically saved one beer for after work on Monday afternoon.  When I got back Denny had already drank it.  It was the first time I had ever really wanted to have a beer and it was not there.  Denny had to laugh at me too since I had told him so many times that I didn’t really like it!!

Denny and I used to do a lot of traveling around also.  Once again, we would get in the car, start driving until gas, food or beer were required!  Stop, obtain one or all of necessary ingredients to continue the travels and then head out again.

One night we started out going out to UCSD.  Seems to me it was pretty quiet and dark and .. well.. no one was around.  Might have been summer break for all I know.  We had already been drinking some and laughing and finally left.  We drove for awhile and I think that was maybe an hour or more and stopped at a liquor store and bought a gallon of Ripple wine.  If you have ever had wine, and or have ever had Ripple you will quickly understand the two do not share the same grape!  We downed that ripple over a few hours and I finally got a brain and decided that we needed to stop for the night and let this stuff burn out of me at least.

The next morning I woke up on the hood of the Ford, wrapped in the parachute I covered up the car with and wearing Denny’s boots.  To this day I have no idea how I got his boots or even what he was wearing, but by golly I looked cool.  Well except for the parachute sweater of course.

That ended my love affair for Ripple.  Have never had another drop of it.

Drinking Coffee:  Before entering the Navy I had never drank coffee.  I can remember a time when Wilbur
 and I went to the Winchels Donut shop in Chatsworth sometime after high school and got a cup of coffee.   This was purely a form of ‘fitting in’ and conforming to the culture our parents presented.  We actually had no desire, nor reason to drink coffee, but since Mom and Dad did… we were going to go for it. 

For some reason Wilbur thought trying to drink it with a straw was the best way to sip on hot coffee.  In the back of my mind I knew this was not a very wise idea.  I think he did too because as he attempted to draw the coffee up the straw you could see he was very timid about it.  He would slowly sneak it higher and higher each time.  I just sat back and watched with a snicker in my mind.

As he worked it higher and higher and it finally touched his tongue it was like a soldering iron!!  The full impact of hot coffee concentrated into 3/16” dia. straw!!!  He jumped like a snake had bit him.  I couldn’t help but laugh at him.  At that point I just really didn’t care for it or even see much of a need to have it.

However, when I got to North Island on my first duty station I was faced with standing ‘mid watches’ from midnight to 4am.  These watches are the absolute worst because you have to get ready to go on duty at around 11:30.  Of course in a barracks full of sailors no one went to sleep before 11pm.  This left no time to sleep.  Midwatch also did not excuse you the next morning for duty, which started at 5am.  This meant you were essentially up all night.

At the same time there were all kinds of stories about guys getting caught going to sleep on watch and being sent to the ‘line’, which was essentially a carrier someplace in the Tonkin Gulf.  Line duty was NOT a recommended alternative to anything, anyplace else.

There was one story about a Chief that went out on the flight line during the midwatch of a particular sailor, and painted a black circle on a plane.  The next morning the Chief brought the Seaman to Quarters.  The Chief walked the Seaman to the line of planes and showed him the plane with black circle on it.  He said, ‘Sailor, see this black circle?  I blew up this plane last night.  You were not manning your post and we lost a $1,000,000 plane.  You will be court Marshaled!”

At this point the Sailor said, “Excuse me Sir see this red circle on the ground?  I was watching you plant the bomb.  This is where you died!!”

He was immediately released.

However this little story made me very aware of the potential of going to sleep on watch.  It made me very afraid to do anything out of the ordinary or even outstanding in any way.  One night on a mid-watch I was so tired I could not even stay awake.  Even walking around the line out in the cool air I was going to sleep standing up.

Someplace in the back of my mind I knew that coffee would keep me awake, but where could I get any?  I could not leave my post to get some.  Besides, what would be open at that time of morning anyway?   Suddenly I thought about the Chief’s mess.  Every outfit has a place where the Chiefs gather. (Chiefs were enlisted at the rate of E-7 or above.)

I knew where the Chief’s hangout was in VS-41.  However it was locked and I couldn’t get in.  I figured there was coffee left in the 30 cup pot that I could warm up if I could just get in there and find it.  I forget how I did it, but when the dream is powerful enough you can do anything.  I got into the Chief’s mess and plugged in the coffee pot.  In about 15 minutes I had piping hot coffee to keep me awake.  

Now, you have to remember this is approximately 2 o’clock in the morning.  This coffee pot had been first made before noon the day before.  More then likely it sat around and ‘boiled off’ becoming more and more rancid, bitter and incredibly strong until 3 or 4 pm when it was then simply turned off and left in the pot. I had never had coffee before except for that one time with Wilbur.  This was so incredibly horrible that I could not believe I was drinking it.  It tasted more like melted tires covered with tar then it did like coffee, however, it did do it’s job and kept me awake for the next two hours on watch.  
I never again drank rancid coffee like that.  In fact to this day I can taste ‘old’ coffee that has been sitting around in a pot and turning to tar!!!

 

UCSD:  University of California, San Diego.  Earlier I mentioned UCSD.  One of Denny’s friends had a girlfriend that was going to college there.  IT was like having back stage passes to a concert.  We had inside ties to the college women of UCSD.  We would go up there on weekends and party.  I remember one night I met Heather.  She was probably 18-19, brunette and short and very cute.  That was the only time I ever saw her.  There were many parties out there.  One night I remember ending up sitting on the 3rd floor window ledge of the dorm room drunk on Screwdrivers.  I think it was the last night I ever had a Screwdriver!!  Actually I think it was this night that I had taken ‘Speed’, which just elevates the heart rate immensely.  It really whacked me out.  In fact it was the last time I ever did that too!

For a lot of these parties I was the one who bought the beer.  The first time I ever bought beer was at a liquor store in Lajolla, CA, not far from the college.  I just walked in like I knew what I was doing.  I picked up a couple of six packs, paid and walked out.  The clerk never carded me.  

From that point on he and I became very good friends.  I could go in at anytime, buy 2-3 cases of beer, hard liquor or anything else and he just took my money.  PS. I was only 20 at the time.

On my 21st birthday, and not too long before I left for Vietnam, I decided to stop by ‘my’ liquor store and buy beer.  Once again like the old friend I was I just walked in and picked up what I wanted and went to the counter.  I pulled out my money and paid just like I always did.  He handed me my change and I pulled my license out of my wallet and dropped it on the counter. “Oh by the way..... Just thought you might like to know.  Today’s my 21st birthday!!”.  He looked at me with a glare in his eyes and I could tell our little friendship was over.  I never again went back to that store.  But by then.. I didn’t need to.  I could go anywhere!!

Black’s Beach was a section of the coast up in La Jolla within a quarter mile of the girl’s dorm at UCSD.  The cliffs overlooking the beach were 200-300 feet high and was a really great place to go.  Many times we would meet girls at the parties, go down to the cliffs sit and talk, make out or drink.  (More of the first and last then the middle however).  I guess I was a little too reserved, shy and down right careful to let too much ever happen.

In 2002 I was doing some web searches and found the following sites about VS-41 and some other facts.  I thought I would include them here so you can see it or maybe even get into contact for some reason.

VS-41 Facts

Current Telephone numbers for NAS, North Island

http://www.coronadophbk.com/milndx/nasni/nasni.htm
Commander Sea Control Wing 
US Pacific Fleet ..................................................545-1869
 [* = Deploying squadrons - here today, gone tomorrow] 

VS-29* .......................................................545-0807
VS-33* .......................................................545-7076
VS-35* .......................................................545-0232
VS-38* .......................................................545-7995
VS-41 .........................................................545-7147

Bronco Crash of 1970

h

 HYPERLINK "javascript:OpenFile('http://www.ov-10bronco.net/stories/hunter-vs41crash-aug1970.htm', 'NEWWND');" ttp://www.ov-10bronco.net/stories/hunter-vs41crash-aug1970.htm
During my stay on North Island the above crash took place.  I remember it happening but didn’t know much about it at all.  I really liked the OV-10’s.  They were a sweet little plane.

Viet Nam 1970-1971
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Fleet Air Support Unit (FASU)

Sometime in early 1970 a life changing event occurred.  My girlfriend at the time, Liz Parker, wrote me the proverbial ‘Dear John’ letter, except it was actually a Dear Tyler letter.  I cannot even remember at this time what it actually said, however, the essence was... she had found someone else.

Liz had gone to school in Ellensburg, WA.  While there she met Trent.  I have to admit this totally devastated me.  It is funny too.  I am not sure I was so totally in love with her, however, she was my girl at the time and it really hurt.

Because of this situation, I went to my barracks commander, Chief Roberts, and volunteered for Viet Nam.  I figured I could go to Viet Nam and get killed in action and that would be that.  I never figured I would have such a good time.

I do remember being scared at times before I left.  I felt for sure I was going to die and it would not be a fun time.

The transition period from VS-41 to Vietnam seemed to go smooth.  I don’t remember any kind of questions or hassles involved with the move.  I simply volunteered and about 2 months later I was on a big jet headed for some distant land that I actually had little knowledge about.  I did attend ‘SAR’ school.  SAR stood for ‘Search and Rescue’.  By 1970 they pretty well had a handle on what it was like to be captured in Viet Nam and what was going to happen.  Because of my rate, AT, I was only sent to the 2 day SAR school which really wasn’t all that bad.  This consisted of lectures and indoctrination of what Viet Nam was like, what to expect, what to take with us and how to prepare simply for being in a hostile environment.  I still have the small soap container ‘survival kits’ they showed us how to make.  I suppose they worked.  I survived.

There was also a 7 day school that they actually sent you out through the mountains and attempt to avoid capture.  When you were captured they put you in the ‘box’ just like the ones used in Viet Nam.  I heard stories of very good pilots that washed out of the Navy altogether once they were sent to SAR and realized what they had gotten in for.  They could not take the confinement of the ‘box’ and pretty much went insane.

I remember landing in Hawaii on the flight over.  It seemed exciting to be in this tropical Island.  Of course I had heard a lot about it and this was my first encounter.  We had a short lay over of maybe a couple of hours or so.  I remember getting off the plane and a girl gave me a flower lei. 

After lifting off from Hawaii it was a 9 to11 hour flight to Da Nang.  Here are some of those initial pictures I took as we approached Viet Nam and I knew I was actually going to land in a war zone.

FASU:   

It seems now sort of a blur from the time I landed to the time I woke up connected with FASU, Fleet Air Support Unit, Da Nang, Vietnam - March, 1970.  I remember a ride in what was called a ‘cattle car’ past the rice paddies of South Viet Nam as we arrived but for the life of me I have no idea where or even why that ride took place since 15th Arial, where all commercial flights landed and departed, and FASU were connected on the same air strip.  I used to walk down to the terminal from the barracks all the time so I don’t know why we took the cattle car ride.  Again, as it seems with most new experiences the brain is not sure how to take in all the information and how to process it, so it just seems to roll it all into a single phrase, “I arrived at FASU”.

My first 3 months ‘In Country’, because of my AT rating I was assigned the job of Radio Operator.  I am not sure where the past radio operator went to or exactly why I was given the job.  Maybe that was exactly why I had been sent to this particular unit to begin with.  

I started out for a couple of weeks on the day shift learning what to do, what to say, how to make the operation work, then was moved to the night shift.  There were only 2 shifts as each was 12 hours long,  6 to 6.  The Operations radio job was not complicated at all, however, it was integral to the mission of FASU itself.

FASU had a simple task in the overall war effort.  The ‘Flat tops’ or aircraft carriers would launch attack bombers and fighter planes every hour and a half.   It took 45 minutes to launch and reposition the planes on the deck and then 45 minutes to recover those planes coming in from missions.

Those planes would go North to Hanoi, the Ho Chi Men trail and other places  and cause a lot of hate and discontent with the 500lb bombs, 20mm mini canons, and any number of other pieces of spit and fire they might have loaded up.
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If by chance they did not or were not able to drop the heavies then they had to off load the bombs before making the arrest on the carrier.  (If they didn’t, the bombs might come unglued from the plane and create a little hate and discontent on the deck and with the other planes.  Therefore they would land in Da Nang and off load all bombs.)  FASU would collect them all and then ship them back out to the ships for another run up North.
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The pilots would call the ship and let them know they were going to land at FASU to off load ordinance.  The ships radio operator would then notify FASU Operations, Opps., of a plane coming in.  (This is where I came in.  I ran the radio at Opps.)  I would notify the flight line that a plane was coming in.  They in turn would let me know when it landed, and I notified the ship.  This was essentially a completed flight.  Same thing happened in reverse when it left Da Nang and then landed back on the ship.

This was my job.  Logging in flights, obtaining weather reports for the Ships, and notifying the line a plane was inbound.  Twelve hours a day.  For the most part it was pretty boring, especially at night.  Most boats did not launch at night so there was little going on, especially in the early morning hours.

So what do you do on a job you have nothing to do on?  Sleep!!  I was provided with approximately 6 hours a night that I didn’t have to do anything.  From time to time there would be a late launch and planes were still flying at maybe 10 or 11pm.   But for the most part by 10pm I was on my own and only had to obtain weather updates at somewhere between 4 or 5am.

My daily routine, or maybe nightly at this point started with walking down to Opps. From the barracks and usually arriving at 5:30 or so.  I have always been early.  I would get a briefing on what was happening, and what planes were out from the Day shift guy.  I would talk to the officers in Opps. and kick back a bit and see what was going on.

From there at just about 6pm I would take over and start my shift.  Once again not a lot to do.  As planes/ships called in I logged calls, notified the line, made weather reports.  Weather reports were essentially repeating what I learned by calling the weather station, writing down the information and then sending it out as a broadcast to all carriers in the Tonkin Gulf.  At night this was usually 1 or maybe 2 that were still wanting to know the information.

I always had books to read, magazines to look for china and stereo equipment to buy, and of course Liz’s
 letters.  This girl would write 10-20 pages every day and mail them off to me.  She put her perfume on them and when I got her letters it was like she was almost there with me.  I normally used a good 2-3 hours a night answering her letter for the day and then putting in my own additions and comments.  Many were very ‘wet’ with mush, but hey, it was fun and it really did help me pass the time.  I still have an entire box of her letters out in the garage today.  I will add in a few with this story.

[image: image22.jpg]


At around 11:30 at night I would go to ‘mid-rats’, mid night rations.  Most of the time I was never hungry having eaten dinner at around 5 and not really do a whole lot anyway, physically anyway.  However, they did have one thing that just thrilled me, hard boiled eggs!!  I would get just short of a dozen eggs put them in my hat and take them back to the office.  For the next several hours I would eat hard boiled eggs and drink coffee, write letters and read.  Some nights I would stay up all night, and then others I put three chairs together to make a bed and simply went to sleep.

That meant that during the day I was free to do anything I wanted to do.  I only had to be back to work by 6pm each night.

What did I do?  I somehow found lots to do.  We had a place called China Beach where the Army and Marines came for R&R from the jungles of Vietnam.  The Navy went to Australia, Bangkok, and Hawaii for R&R.  I suppose it was a matter of what you were used to.  We had China Beach every day so taking R&R there was sort of a waste of time.

Anyway China Beach was the beach on a huge curved bay that was probably 3-4 miles long.  It curved from the South to North and more or less ended on the Da Nang River itself.  The cool part about this beach was the break.  Waves would begin breaking on that South Point and roll all the way to the Da Nang River.  At the time I was really into surfing, having been surfing all over California.  However, I had learned on a 9’-4” orange beast so the newer 5’+ boards were like driving Ferrari’s over Cadillac’s.  However I did have a good time and used to go out there several times a week to go surfing lay in the sun and watch the Aussie girls that toured with different bands.

They had a club out there too but for what ever reason I never attended it much.  I think I went out there one time.  I was still very much fighting the ‘Drunken Sailor’ image and refused to do anything that would qualify me for that name.
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Other times I would take my camera out and we would drive around the countryside and take pictures.  My room mate, Obie, was a driver for something and would take me with him on deliveries.  We went south out to Marble Mt., north up Monkey Mountain and out on the roads West of Da Nang itself.  This was 1970 so things were not quite as hot as they had been in previous years.  I was always leery and cautious but at the same time I wanted to experience and see Viet Nam the way it was.

There was also Freedom Hill and the PX, Post Exchange.  That is where we bought just about everything we needed for daily life in Da Nang.  I think it was the only store around so all services went there.  Everything in Vietnam came in tin cans.  Crackers, cookies, meat, everything was in a tin can.  To this day I think it strange to see a tin can of crackers, but.. I did have them and in fact used to my advantage during one of my other diversions.  I will get there in a minute.

The other thing that Freedom Hill had was a movie theater.  Certainly not first run movies but at least movies to watch and kill some time waiting for the next shift to start.  Movies were shown at Noon and 7pm to accommodate both shifts.  I would take the cattle car up the hill at around 11am, after having been out playing most of the morning, maybe do some shopping and then go to the movie.  It would end around 2 or so, and I would head back down the hill to the barracks to catch a short nap before my next night shift started.  Since I could sleep at night I only needed a short nap to get me through the next several hours until after mid-rats and the night calmed down enough to go to sleep in the radio room.

After 3 months in Country the day shift guy evidently left and I was given the day shift job.  I suppose someone thought working days was better then working nights since you could sleep better at night but to be honest I was a little disappointed.  I actually enjoyed the time alone and the ability to simply do as I pleased.

As I began my day shift duties I noticed one major difference; the amount of calls coming in.  During the day there could be 3-5 carriers out in the Tonkin Gulf launching planes.  This amounted to an amazing amount of planes in the air at any one time.  During the night shift I would log maybe 1-2 pages of calls.  During the day shift it was 1-2 pages every hour!  Taking calls from the ships, making weather reports, calling the line, answering the phone, became a full time job for sure.  You really had to be on top of things in order to keep up.
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I mentioned earlier the way the planes were tracked:  Pilot called the boat, the boat called me, I called the boat.  There was one problem with this whole system.  As I started the day shift I inherited a ‘single entry’ method.  I logged when planes were coming in.  I logged again when they landed, when they took off and again when they landed on the boat.  This was simply the way it had been done, the way I was taught and how I learned to do it.  However, each of these four events were on a separate line in the log book, with any number of other planes coming in or events occurring between the time a plane took off and when it landed.

Sometime in mid-summer an A6 Bomber was called in as coming to Da Nang around 10am in the morning.  At 4pm that afternoon I got a call from ‘Rocket’ the carrier on the line.  They were looking for the A6.  I called the line and reported that it was not here.  I checked my logs and found where it was called in but since there was no way to track the plane in the air, there were 3 pages of flight calls between that call in the morning and the present time.

A search was started and around 7pm that night and within an hour the plane wreckage was found.  There was never a distress call.  There was never any word that I heard as to why it went ‘in'’.  I also heard that they found a lower jaw of one of the pilots and that was about all.
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After that we devised a ‘double entry’ system where the left hand half of the page showed the plane as taking off, the right hand logged when the plane landed.  This gave an instant indication when a plane was still in the air or the flight not completed because the right hand side would be blank.  I would look back over the log every 30 minutes or so and make sure all flights had completed that were more then 30 minutes old.  Any flight not completed I would contact the ship and request information concerning the plane.   We never again had a mishap like this occur.
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Working days now drastically changed what I could do.  I still would go up to the  movie on Freedom Hill at 7 but then after that there was not much else left except for going down to ‘The Club’ which was simply a single story barracks tent with no beds in it.  It did have a couple of refrigerators that were completely full of beer all the time.  Budweiser cost 25 cents a can.  Even in a war zone you could get comfortably wasted on not much money!!

I suppose now is as good a time as any to give you some details on how I lived in Viet Nam.  The barracks was a two story, wooden building, divided off into rooms the length of the building, very much WWII style.  There was a center area where the stairs came up from below and also where a coke machine was located.  Other than that there was nothing in this area.  During the day this is where the Mama Sans, the women who did our cleaning and laundry, ironed the clothes.  They would just spread them out on the floor and iron them right there, hunched up on their knees in a squatting position.

Our rooms were really pretty much the same as everyplace I was stationed, except the carrier.  Two to a room, in single or bunk beds, maybe a desk and maybe a chest of drawers.  The room I was in with Obie, Obrien was his last name but I have no idea what his first name was, had bunk beds.  He evidently liked the top bunk because that is where he was when I moved in, what he picked when we moved rooms once and where he was when I left.  I am not sure why we moved now, but for some reason our room was shifted and the bunk beds ended up on the North wall instead of the south.  This is the arrangement you see in most of my pictures of our room.  We had a small writing table and I built a shelf above it for books.  (The cock roaches ate all the glue off the bindings of those books!!)

It was in the first room we shared that I used the cracker cans to the most good.  Entertainment was a bit slow most of the time so you sort of had to find and make up your own.  At night on duty I could hear the rats running around the outside of the office.  I wrote mom and dad to send me some rat traps.  I decided I could use my time at night to good use if I didn’t want to sleep, or even if I did want to sleep because this had a built in wake up call.

Dad sent me 3 big rat traps and 3 little mouse traps about 2 weeks later.  Probably came in the next CARE package the Canteen Club sent out.  I will talk about that in a bit.  The mouse traps were very handy in our room.  You never really saw the rats but you just sort of knew they were around.  One night, for what ever reason, I set a mouse trap on the fire block on the wall.  This was within 12” of my head where I slept.  In the middle of the night the trap goes off.  Pretty much scared me actually.  I didn’t really even expect it to.  I jumped up and grab my flashlight and looked on the floor where I had heard it hit.  There was a small rat, about 6 or 7 inches or so in the trap stunned but not dead.  I had one of those cracker cans close by so I just opened it up, held the rat over the opening and opened the trap.  He dropped down inside and I put the top on.

That was so interesting I thought I would try it again.  That particular time I didn’t get another one, but there were some nights I would trap 3 or 4 in a night.  Now this was right next to my face.  I never realized it before.

All the dogs in the FASU Zoo loved to chase the rats.  Don’t think they ever caught any, but they enjoyed it none the less.  The next morning, not really knowing what to do with this rat, I took it down the one of the shops and found Lil’ Shit, Nuk maum, and 2 or 3 others.  Nuk was so fat she couldn’t hardly move, but when she smelled that rat she got really animated and excited, jumping up and down, barking and just having a ball.  Well I just held the can above the ground at arms length and dumped the rats out.  The dogs went nuts chasing them.  Everyone standing around went nuts trying not to have a rat run up their legs and trying to avoid the dogs chasing the rats.  The fun lasted about 30 seconds until the rats got away under some junk, behind blast barrels or some other place we couldn’t get them.  We would all laugh and I would take my cracker can home that night and catch some more for the next morning. It really was a lot of fun and not even the rat got hurt except for that initial thump trap and crash to the floor.  I have no idea why we didn’t’ have cats!!

The rat traps were used in a slightly different way.  While on duty on the radio at night I would go to mid-rats and bring back bread and cheese and bait up the traps.  I simply set them just inside the blast barrels around the out side of the hut, tie a small string to the trap so I wouldn’t lose it and then go back inside.  It didn’t take too long to suddenly hear a trap go ‘SNAP’ and then bang around on the barrels and hut for a few seconds then stop.  I would walk out, pull the trap out and empty my prize.  They were big rats too.  Probably weighed 2 lbs some of them.  I must have done a pretty good extermination job because after about 3 weeks of this I quit catching any.

At some point Obie and I went over to the Air force side and bought a small refrigerator for keeping pop and beer cold.  I remember it cost $60 and at the time it sure seemed like a lot of money.  It was a nice addition however.  Then during my day shift I starting finding shipping crates made with ¾ inch mahogany plywood.  It was great stuff so I salvaged it and build a closet, complete with shelves inside, hanger pole and hinged door.  We had the only room with a real closet!!  I wonder now how many people fought over that room when I/we left.  Since Obie shipped over for a 3rd tour he was still there when I was long gone.

Mosquitoes were actually the worst thing I had to deal with while in Vietnam.  I know that may sound ridiculous but just as R&R is all a matter of perspective, so were the miseries dealt out.  Spray planes coated the entire compound with some kind of repellant or insecticide but that did not completely rid the country of them.  Night was worst.  Laying in bed and suddenly the proverbial  high pitch ‘bzzzzzzzzz’ of little wings in your ear.  The next morning you would wake up to itchy spots that took a week to go away.

I decided that ‘little wings’ could not fly through big winds so I rigged up a personal gale force wind; a 12” fan mounted on the end of my bed turned on high.  This prevented any mosquitoes from ever reaching me except in a non-routine crash landing, tumble, and blow off the face type of flight pattern.  (These were not recommended in Mosquito flight schools!!)

As with all things positive there is always a negative side.  No less the case with this personal mosquito control mechanism.  The necessary gale force to prevent mosquito from landing on me, or at least landing properly, also created an amazing wind chill factor.  The first few nights of this set up I immediately caught a cold.  This negative was cured however by using as covers, now mind you I am in the tropical jungles of Vietnam, 3 wool army type blankets and two full plastic ponchos.  Only my face was exposed for during the winter I even wore my navy knit cap to bed, but I slept so good every night.  The weight and warmth of the covers and the security knowing not one little bug would ever attack me was worth it all.

Forestry:  It was sometime during the winter of 1970-71 that I was given the dream of becoming a forester.  I had been reading a Readers Digest about a forester in California and what his work was like and what he did on a daily basis.  It intrigued me and I got to thinking about it.  At that time I had approximately 18 months of my enlistment left.  Up to that point my future seemed ‘black’ or even non-existent.  I really had had no thoughts of what I was going to do when I got out because ‘getting out’ was never in my mind.  In fact I had come to Viet Nam NOT to get out so it was strange to even think about the future very much.

As I thought about things and a future life I suddenly could see where there was a light at the end of this dark tunnel I had been traveling in.  I could tell there was going to be a future and I needed to look towards that and decide what to do.  As I thought about Forestry I asked myself, “If you really want to be outside and live that type of life why not get paid for doing it?  Why not embrace this lifestyle and go to school for Forestry.  Call it God’s leading.  Call it an epiphany. On that day in Viet Nam, sitting on my bed reading a Reader’s Digest I made my decision for a career.  When I was released from the Navy I returned to college and completed my AA degree in Design Drafting and at the same time started a BS degree in Natural Resources.  In 1977 I graduated from California Polytechnic, San Luis Obispo, CA with my degree in Natural Resources, with a Forestry Concentration.  I stayed with that profession for 22 years of my Government service and then migrated into computers and the high tech end of Government.  I am now the Security Manager for Region 1, USFWS.

Canteen Club:  I mentioned the Canteen Club earlier.  The Canteen club was started by the Business Women’s Club of Chatsworth, CA.  I believe either Laurie Bales was the president or was at least the organizing vector for the club itself.  According to Mom it was started sometime after I was already in the Navy.  The group obtained donated items from different business around town.  Parents would also collect goodies from all manner of sources, like used cards from Las Vegas or Reno.  Wherever something could be collected and sent to a serviceman it was.  

Boxes were purchased and stuffed with the donated items, papers from town, and then mailed to all servicemen from Chatsworth in overseas locations.  They would ease the tension and stress in what ever situation we might be in.  They were a lot of fun to receive and many of the other guys in Country were jealous that I would get this on a continuous basis.  Every month a small box would show up with all kinds of things in it.     I always used everything in it and then kept the box to put things in.

(Find a letter that lists the things in a Canteen Box.)

Pilot shooting the counter:  Probably the most dangerous event that happened during my time in Vietnam, besides the rocket attacks of course, was the day a boot pilot came into opps with is hot new 9mm pistol.  

As pilots checked into FASU to spend the night they had to come to Operations and turn in any weapons they had.   We had a weapons locker we kept them in.

Every pilot had his own choice of personal weapons he carried.  This particular pilot was showing off his brand new 9mm.  I am not sure exactly what he was doing but evidently he pulled it out, was flashing it around a lot and then suddenly it went off.  It was aimed at the counter and just happened to hit a pile of slick paper magazines about 2 inches thick.  It went all the way down through the stack of magazines and glanced off the lacquered counter top, leaving a ¼” dent in the wood.  As it changed trajectory it just missed a 5 gallon water bottle in a cooler stand and passed through the Quonset hut wall and headed North toward the Maintenance building.  Everyone ran out of Opps to check and make sure someone did not get shot as they walked past the hut   As it turned out no one was hurt and it just turned into a verbal route of the pilot who was told in no uncertain terms he was an idiot!!!

The FASU Zoo

Monkeys:

There were 3 monkeys, Chico was one of them.  They were Black Spider monkeys and pretty much had the run of FASU.  I have no idea where the monkeys came from but I would suspect that the locals trapped them and sold them in town.  

In Operations, where I worked, Wo Mac. owned Chico.  Wo Mac was actually Warrant Officer Mac.  something.  (I have no idea what his last name really was.)  The monkey’s played all over the base.  They roamed from the Mess Hall to the flight line.  Chico hung around Opps most of the time simply because WO Mac fed him and loved him.  Chico would sit on Mac’s shoulder and pick through his hair looking for anything that was not hair.   He would finger his way over Mac’s hair and scalp looking between each hair itself.  From time to time he would find something, gently pick it out with his little fingernails, pull it up to look at it closely inspecting to see what it was, then eat it!!  (In the monkey world they groom each other looking for lice.  I doubt Mac had lice but I am sure Chico found some dandruff from time to time.)  It was actually quite comical to watch Mac sitting at his desk, feet up on the desk reading a magazine or paper, and Chico sifting through his hair grooming him.

Over the 12 months I was at FASU, the monkeys slowly died.  Teeto, who normally hung around the Maintenance shack, climbed a telephone pole one day.  While playing in the upper part and along the wires, he must have evidently touched two wires at once and was electrocuted.  He shorted out the power to several areas of the base, and fell dead at the base of the pole.  It was sad to see him die in that manner.

One day the 3rd monkey came up missing.  This one was owned by one of the guys out on the flight line and mostly hung around out there.  It was not until a few days later that an A-3 landed from a mission.  This particular A-3 had been on the base earlier in the week.  A mechanic was checking the plane as a normal maintenance inspection, and found the monkey up inside the wheel well of the landing gear.  Since he played out on the line the conclusion was that he was up in the wheel well playing when the plane taxied out.  Scared and afraid to move he rode out the lift off and was able to move around and not be crushed by the landing gear retracting.  However, at 30-40,000 feet altitude there is little oxygen and it is very cold.  The poor little guy froze to death in the wheel well.

Chico was outside Opps playing in the road one day and a tow truck ran over him.  I never heard the specifics of the accident but I would suspect that he got scared and ran back towards Opps for safety and ran under the tow truck.  

Chico died about 2 months before I left.  I don’t think anyone ever replaced them.

Dogs:

There were dogs all over Vietnam.  These were sort of strange breeds being a mix of shepherds and chows, mostly small sized and very friendly.  We had two dogs in Opps, Nuc Muam and Lil’ Shit.  Once again Wo Mac seemed to own or at least care for these dogs the most, but our Maintenance Chief also cared about ‘Lil Shit a lot.
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Nuc was a fat little yellow female chow.  She just pretty much waddled around the office most of the time.  She was named for the fish sauce made from distilling rotten fish in a 50gal barrel.  (I don’t’ believe there was much connection between her and rotten fish.. that is just where the name came from.)

Lil’ Shit I heard was her puppy.  Pretty nice dog but funny.  Wo Mac & Chief  Robinson would put tape on one paw.  Lil Shit would walk and shake his foot trying to shake off the tape.  If you put tape on the right front and the back left then each step he would shake each foot!!!  He did a regular tap dance if you taped all four feet!!!  

They never really did much.  Just seemed to hang around Opps., bark at the incoming pilots and be good company during the long night shifts.

 

 

[image: image28.bmp]Swimming Pool:  Sometime prior to my arrival at Da Nang, someone had the bright idea to create a swimming pool.  Didn’t take much to bring in a cat to doze out a hole behind the Opperations Shack.  I have no idea where they thought they were going to come up with concrete for the sides and bottom but they got the hole dug.  It was about 30 long and 15 foot wide.  By the time I arrived the ‘swimming pool’ was a muddy water pit, filled constantly by the Monsoons.  During the summer it did drain down to only 3-4 feet of crude mud.

The dogs loved it though.  Lil’ Shit especially like the game of chasing rocks.  Throw a rock into the pool and he would jump in, swim to where the rock sunk, dive down and pick it up and bring it back.  Would have made a great retriever.  He was an excellent rock hound.

Deployed Ships in 1970-71

1970 WESTPAC/VIETNAM DEPLOYMENTS

USS SHANGRI-LA (CVS-38) with CVW-8 (5 Mar 1970 to 17 Dec 1970)
          VA-12                                   A-4C
          VA-152                                  A-4E
          VA-172                                  A-4C
          VF-lll                                  F-8H
          VF-162                                  F-8H
        ##VAH-l0 Det 38                           KA-3D
          VFP-63 Det 38                           RF-8G
          VAW-121 Det 38                          E-lB
          HC-2 Det 38                             UH-2C

 

USS BON HOMME RICHARD (CVA-31) with CVW-5 (2 Apr 1970 to 12 Nov 1970)
          VF-51                                   F-8J
          VF-53                                   F-8J
          VA-22                                   A-4F
          VA-94                                   A-4E
          VA-144                                  A-4F
          VFP-63 Det 31                           RF-8G
          VAQ-130 Det 31                          EKA-3B
          VAW-lll Det 14                          E-lB
          HC-l Det 3                              UH-2C

 

USS AMERICA (CVA-66) with CVW-9 (10 Apr 1970 to 21 Dec 1970)  Callsign:  COURAGE
          VF-92                                   F-4J
          VF-96                                   F-4J
          VA-146                                  A-7E
          VA-147                                  A-7E
          VA-165                                  A-6A, A-6B & A-6C                 RVAH-12                                 RA-5C
          VAW-124                                 E-2A
          VAQ-132                                 EKA-3B & KA-3B
          HC-2 Det 66                             UH-2C
         *HC-7 Det 110                            SH-3A

 

USS ORISKANY (CVA-34) with CVW-19 (14 May 1970 to 10 Dec 1970)  CallSign:  SEALORD?
          VF-191                                  F-8J
          VF-194                                  F-8J
          VA-153                                  A-7A
          VA-155                                  A-7B
          VAQ-130 Det 34                          EKA-3B
          VAW-lll Det 34                          E-lB
          VFP-63 Det 34                           RF-8G
          HC-l Det 6                              UH-2C

 

USS HANCOCK (CVA-19) with CVW-21 (22 Oct 1970 to 3 Jun 1971)
          VF-24                                   F-8J
          VF-211                                  F-8J
          VA-55                                   A-4F
          VA-164                                  A-4F
          VAQ-129 Det 62                          EKA-3B
          VAW-lll Det 19                          E-lB
          VFP-63 Det 19                           RF-8G
          VA-212                                  A-4F
          HC-l Det 7                              UH-2C
         *HC-5 Det 103                            UH-2C

 

USS RANGER (CVA-61) with CVW-2 (27 Oct 1970 to 17 Jun 1971)
          VF-21                                   F-4J
          VF-154                                  F-4J
          VA-25                                   A-7E
          VA-113                                  A-7E
          VA-145                                  A-6A & A-6C
          RVAH-l                                  RA-5C
          VAQ-134                                 KA-3B & EKA-3B
          VAW-lll Det 7                           E-lB
          HC-l Det 1                              SH-3G
         *HC-7 Det 110                            SH-3A

 

USS KITTY HAWK (CVA-63) with CVW-ll (6 Nov 1970 to 17 Jul 1971)  CallSign:  Rocket?
          VF-114                                  F-4J
          VF-213                                  F-4J
          VA-192                                  A-7E
          VA-195                                  A-7E
          VA-52                                   A-6B
          RVAH-6                                  RA-5C
          VAQ-133                                 EKA-3B & KA-3B
          VAW-114                                 E-2B
          HC-l Det 2                              UH-2C
         *HC-7 Det 110                            SH-3A

 

 

Rocket Attacks

During the year I was in Da Nang, I experienced 6 different rocket attacks in and around FASU.

The first rockets:  My first rocket attack occurred approximately 2-3 weeks after I arrived in country.  All of them occurred during the night, usually somewhere between Midnight and 5am.

This first attack came around 3am.  It was a sudden and a definite Boom, Boom, Boom, followed immediately by the wail of sirens.

I jumped out of bed and heard lots of other guys running down the hall, obviously headed for the bunker just outside the barracks.  Then I notice that Obie, my roommate was not even moving.  

Obie had been in country already for a year and was on his second tour.  He was a troll of a little man and was very strange in many ways.  He was already walking bent over like an older man of 70.  His face was pock marked from teenage acne.  He wore a greasy hat most of the time, pulled low over his eyes, and smiled a crooked smile, which reminded me of the troll under the bridge in the nursery rhyme.

I was pretty startled, but not actually scared since I was not really aware of the potential that was possible.  I asked him, ‘Obie are we suppose to go the bunker?”  He yawned, rolled over and nonchalantly said, “Well, you can if you want to.  But it’s over.”

I thought to myself, ‘Over?’.  That quick?  He then went on to explain that the Viet Cong simply put 122mm rockets on bamboo sticks out in the bush someplace, then lit them off.  They were like giant roman candles.  As soon as the Marines saw the flare trails from the rockets they were headed that way to try and intercept the bad guys.  In the mean time the rockets would make their way to their destination, approximately 10 sec. flight and explode on what ever they might hit.  BOOM!!! At which point MAG11, 11th Marine Air Group, would sound the alarm.  The Viet Cong, or just Cong for short, didn’t have time to set up and light any more rockets after the first ones.  They didn’t have time to light off more then one set without the potential of being surrounded by Marines.  Therefore, if you heard the MAG11 siren, the rocket attack was already over, you survived!!

This was true of every rocket attack except for one.  On that one I did get a little antsy.

Killed the pool:  During my nightshift duty after midnight there was not a lot to do.  Few planes flew night missions which pretty much meant I had nothing to do.  I would go to Mid-rats, grab some hard boiled eggs, or what ever was available and come back to Maintenance and stretch out on 3 chairs lined up together with my two radios close at hand just incase a ship wanted something.

I calculated this was a fairly safe place to be as the outside of the Quonset Hut was lined with the 50 gallon, sand filled barrels as protection.  A direct hit by a rocket would pretty much waste everything inside, but then.. it would not matter much either!!
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One night, around 1am, suddenly, and very close, a rocket exploded!  The explosion was horrific and extremely loud.  I dove under my radio table and waited it out, figuring I was pretty well protected being in the corner of the building, under the table, with those barrels just outside.
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We went out with flashlights to see where the rocket had hit but it was dark and it was not very telling.  We could see that it hit the North side of the ‘swimming pool’.  Any more information than that was difficult because it was so dark.  The next morning, around 6am, I went outside to see the impact.  Like I said...it hit the north side of the pool.  Approximately 6 more feet North and it would have been up on the flat outside the pool hole itself.  If that would have happened, the Opps. hut was only about 25-30 feet away.  But then like I said the Hut was lined with sand barrels, except for one little ‘tiny’ place.

At one time there stood a large AC unit to help keep Maintenance cool.  However, this unit had broken down and had been removed.  That AC unit use to be situated at the very corner of the Maintenance Shack right where my radio room was located.  Further more, the sand barrels had never been replaced!!!  When I dove under the table for the protection of those barrels I was only one thin sheet of metal, 2 inches of air, and ¼” of hardboard and one thick layer of paint away from that rocket.  If you look at the pieces of shrapnel I found and saved I think you will agree, God was watching over me in a big way!!  (On the backside of the large piece of shrapnel are US Stock numbers!!)

This pretty much put the end to the pool also.  Up to that point everyone talked about how they could go ahead and finish it.  But once the entire side was missing, it just no longer seemed feasible.
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Blew up MAG11 Fuel Cells:  One night there was a more muffled explosion as a rocket impacted somewhere on the Da Nang complex.  The sirens went off and I was either on duty on the radios, on watch or just decided to go out and look, but I got to see one big fire. 

The rocket was a direct hit on one of the 10,000 gallon rubber fuel bags MAG11 used to store jet fuel in.  When the rocket hit it and ignited the fuel a fire ball went 500 feet in the air!  They were unable to put it out and it burned for hours.  Here are the pictures from that event.
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The fire burned until the next day before they were able to put it out.  I suppose the Cong got a kick out of that one.  They could watch the excitement from any hill within miles!
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Wasted our Barracks Club:  One night  a massive explosion took place just outside the barracks. Sirens went off and I jumped out of bed.  There was a lot of yelling and talk going on so I went outside to see what happened.  The ‘Club’ was a tin covered wooden sided shack.  (During the monsoons it was great to sit out there and listen to the rain!!)  It had a bar in it and tables and is where we sort of gathered to have a few beers, etc.  I only remember one night in the club, but that is another story.

The rocket had landed at the corner of the club.  It took out all the screens, one wall, part of the roof and pretty much made a small junk pile of the contents of the interior.  I guess someone else did repairs because I never did and the club returned to it’s glory in very short order.
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If that rocket had fallen short only about 10-15 feet, it would have landed in the middle of Obie’s and my room.  Once again, God was looking out for me. 
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C130 on the flight line:  Besides the MAG11 fuel bag, the most destructive rocket attack was the one that hit a C-130 on the flight line.  15th Aerial was where the ‘Freedom’ birds came in.  There were also a lot of cargo planes bringing supplies to the entire I & II Corps areas of combat, therefore, the 15th was really one of the main targets for all these rockets. 

One night, always at night, a rocket made a direct hit on a C-130, right at the wing root.  The plane blew up due to the fuel in the wing, and many of the surrounding planes were also damaged by shrapnel.  As far as I know, however, there were no causalities, mainly because there was no one around.

Our new bathroom:  This one may sound strange but it is true.  The Cong took out our brand new bathroom.  Once I was assigned as flight crew to our C-117 we had a ‘Crew Shack’ where we all stayed or met while not on the plane.  At one point, for whatever reason, our ‘Crew Shack’ was moved to a new building.  We pretty much had to finish it ourselves and had just completed the bathroom, maybe 2 days prior, when one night a rocket hit.  I was over at the barracks when it went off and did not really know where it had hit until the next morning.  
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As I have mentioned, 15th Aerial with all the Freedom Birds to the south, and MAG11 with the fuel storage facility to the north were the real targets of the Cong.  However, bamboo sticks in the ground do not make stable platforms from which to launch a rocket, nor do they provide the best in directional control.  Sometimes they aimed right, and sometimes they didn’t.  FASU simply got all the ‘misses’, those rockets that wiggled as they launched and missed the two prime targets

As I walked to work, I rounded the corner of our little dead end street and saw a large hole in the pavement just at the corner of the ‘Crew Shack’.   The entire corner of the building was riddled with shrapnel holes, and the insides were totally trashed.  The toilet had taken a direct hit along with the guy that was sitting on it at the time.  (I believe he got a Purple Heart for taking a dump!!)  All the wall board had been taken off the wall and was shattered and broken on the floor.  Lucky for the guy on the toilet it did not land about 15” further.  It would have been directly inside the bathroom instead of just outside.

We spent the next two weeks rebuilding the bathroom again.

Walked the runway:  I mentioned only one time the, ‘If you hear the siren you made it.’ law didn’t fit.  One morning, during my second 6 months of being in Vietnam, I was out on the flight line loading the plane for the days flights down the coast to Saigon and back.  Suddenly, on the far East end of the runway, I heard a rocket explode.  The runway was 2 miles long and since it was so far away I thought little of it.  The sirens went off and suddenly a second rocket exploded.  I thought, “Wow, first time that has happened.’

About that time another one exploded, then another, each one closer west on the runway.  I realized that they were walking the rockets up the runway.  I was inside the revetment of our plane, but then realized that if the plane was hit it would explode with all the AV gas
 on it.  I ran to the corner of the revetment and just hunkered down and listened to them walk all the way up the runway, and then on west past me.  10 rockets all together and each one coming closer then the last one until only 2 were further west.  It took me several minutes to figure it was actually over and I came out to see the damage.  Actually couldn’t see much but a couple of crater holes out on the runway.

In a few minutes other crew members showed up.  We finished loading the plane, got clearance from the tower to taxi, swerved around the craters and flew off to Saigon, business as usual.  Not much changed.

This was the last rocket attack I experienced.  About 1 month later I caught a ‘Freedom Flight’ out and flew back to the girl that wrote me every day I was gone.

 

Air Medal & Wings

[image: image38.jpg]


[image: image39.jpg]



[image: image40.jpg]C~4_>




The most exciting thing that happened in Viet Nam is that I finally got to fly.  After signing up for any kind of aircrew position out of boot camp, and getting nothing, I was finally able to achieve this personal goal in Viet Nam.  

‘Bouncing Bertha’ was her unofficial name
.  ‘Navy 50804’ was her actual call sign.  I can’t hardly say that call sign without adding the ubiquitous..’over’.  ‘Navy 50804 over?’ was the answer I gave every time I was I was called by a ground station somewhere on our flight plan.  It actually is one of those scraps of memory that illicites the feelings of warmth, fun, excitement and being part of something just a little bit different the what anyone else was doing.
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She was a Navy rendition of the Douglas C-3.  The Army reconfigured them for cargo and mail and called it a C-47.  They were used heavily during WWII for the 82nd and 101st Airborne for doing parachute drops.  The Navy did pretty much the same thing but the one telling difference is the tail.  A DC3 or C-47 has a sloping leading edge to the tail.  A C-117 has a more ‘squarish’ tail that has less slope to the leading edge.  I am not sure if this was designed in afterwards or if it was a specific model of the DC3.  It was just the only difference I picked up between the two planes.

The experiences I had on ‘804’ began 6 months after I was in country.  

As I have said before I don’t remember exactly why I was assigned to the crew but one day I was a radio operator on land and the next I was on Bertha.  People talked about what I could achieve as crew; Air Wings and Air Medal so I immediately began working in that direction.

Life as crew was a little different then it was on the base.  Days started about the same time, 5 – 5:30 am but sometimes went a lot longer.  Sometimes they were shorter too. 

The main purpose of ‘50804’ was to transport mail, passengers, and cargo up and down the coast of South Vietnam.  The schedule was actually pretty simple.  MWF we flew south to Quy Nhon, Cam Ronh Bay, Saigon and Ton So Nhut.  Tuesdays and Thursday’s we flew North to Hue & Phu Bi, just south of the DMZ between North and South Vietnam. 

The total flight crew normally consisted of a Pilot & Copilot, Flight Engineer, Radioman, and Load master.  Sometimes, depending on the load itself, we would have a 2nd crew member to help the Load Master.  Of course all of us helped when we had a lot of cargo to get loaded and not enough time to load it.

Duty on the plane was really pretty easy.  We would get together in the morning and load the plane for the day’s flight.  This consisted of any thing under the sun.  Since we were a support unit we even hauled jet engines to crippled aircraft on some distant airfield.  


While the Load Master supervised the cargo loading, Sweeny or whoever was the Flight Captain for the day would supervise the morning’s preflight inspection and pre-flight warm up.  Somewhere during all this I also did a pre-flight inspection of the radio, Tacan and other equipment I was responsible for.  I made radio checks with the tower and a weather check to obtain the latest weather forecast for the pilots.

After the plane was loaded and pre-flight inspections were complete we were ready to load passengers. Operations was notified and passengers would come out on the line and climb into the plane.

The Southern run took all day to travel down to Ton So Nhut Airbase, south of Saigon and back.  Along the way we would stop off in each of the other major air bases and drop off cargo, mail and passengers and pick more up.  Most stops we never shut down the engines.  We would just ‘hot load’ the cargo, throw on mail bags and then have the passengers come aboard.

Actually we were part of the ‘problem’ a lot of Vietnam veterans were subjected to.  Due to technology and the ability to transport individuals so quickly, guys were literally plucked from the rice paddies of some battlefield by a Huey gun ship and dropped off at an airbase.  We would fly by and pick him up and take him to 15th Aerial in Da Nang where he would catch a Freedom Flight back to ‘the World’.  This entire process could take approximately 14 hours from the time he was being shot at to the crowded streets of San Francisco.  This allowed no ‘de-compression’ time to talk about anything that had happened to him.  On top of that many times they were inserted into a world that did not like what they had been doing literally the day before.  Because of that, many guys have never had the chance to talk about what life for them was like.  

I remember picking up one individual like this.  He was muddy and still carrying a loaded M16 rifle as he was being flown home for the funeral of his father.  I suppose, in that particular instance, he was back within the week, reinserted into the same rice paddy he had left.

Six months on the plane seemed to pass rather quickly.  I kept track of my flight hours working towards the 250 required for the Air Medal.  I did received my Air Wings in just over 30 days as we did seem to be flying a lot.  But I was not sure I could get enough time in for my Air Medal.


There are a few instances that I particularly remember while I was part of the crew of 50804.

I think the most humorous was the day we flew a load of pigs south to someplace in Saigon for what was known literally as ‘Operation Pork Chop’.  We loaded up 4 or 5 crates of hogs into the plane.  Had to take out most of the seats out to get them all in.  Once they were loaded up the Load Master shut the door and we took off.  That didn’t last long though.  The smell of the pigs was incredible and quickly filled the cabin of the plane and then the cockpit.  The pilots began complaining about the smell and the Load Master came up with a solution.  He simply opened the door to the plane, sat on a pig crate and held the door open with his foot.  He rode this way all the way to Saigon which was our only stop that day.

One of the strangest ‘cargos’ we had originated in Saigon.  Evidently there was a manufacturer of these large ceramic elephants in the Saigon area someplace.  Evidently someone wanted to have these creations someplace other then Southern Vietnam. We began shipping crates and crates of these things from Saigon north to Da Nang.  One time we had the entire plane loaded with what we called ‘BUFE’s’, or Big Ugly Fricking Elephants
.  

According to the web site I found on Dec. 2002, this is still a viable place of buiness!!  The BUFE stands about 20” tall to the top of the planter base.  There were however other sizes of the critters.  A few times we loaded the entire plane with ‘LUFE’s, or Little Ugly Fricking Elephants.  Now we called them ‘ugly’ because in 1970 they really were.  This one picture I found seems to actually have a little class.  But back in 1970-71 they came in red, green, pink, blue, purple, yellow, gold and black.  Never saw a gray one, which would make sense since I have never seen a pink elephant!  Well, wait.  Maybe once!!

However not to be outdone there was one more size of these.  One day, and only one time, we had a cargo load of BUFE’s and then about 300 or so ‘TUFE’s came aboard.  LUFE’s were about 12-13” tall.  A TUFE was only about 8” high and actually sort of cute.  As I write this I wish I had one today just to have as an example of what our tax dollars went to during part of the Viet Nam confict!

VFP 63 Miramar, CA 1971

VFP-63  Was a photo outfit with F8 Crusader Jets.  I was in Miramar for about 9 months and then deployed on the USS Hancock with the squadron beginning in Jan. 1972.  This was my last ‘Official’ duty station as I left the ship in the Philippines in early June, flown back to the states and discharged on June 20, 1972, just 5 days short of a full 4 years, which is why I don’t have a good conduct medal!!  Five lousy days!!!  I was a good boy for 4 years and because of 5 days I have no medal to show it.  Well.. at least I know I was!!

Playing Spades and Hearts:

Miramar is where I got to playing Spades and Hearts.  We would play for hours at a time.  It got so bad that I could not think of anything else besides thinking of how that would make my Queen good, or if I could run the cards or not.  

Living at the Apt with Larry:

Larry, a guy I worked with at the base decided that we needed to get an apartment together.  One day we were driving up Balboa and went past a new set of apartments that had a big sign across the front, “Your Friends Live Here!!”  That is all it took.  Larry said, “That is the place.  This is home!”

We pulled in and it seems to me that within minutes we were the proud owners of a one bedroom apartment, facing the parking lot with Mediterranean furniture.  It was actually a pretty nice place which would match the $400/mo rent we had to pay.  This was 1971 where $400 was worth a fortune.  

Within a short period of time we quickly realized we did not make enough money to pay $400 rent, even $200 between us.  For some reason Larry just could not let go of this place and got us a job working at the apartments during the day.  We would work 8 hours every day moving furniture, fixing leaky faucets, clogged toilets and jammed garbage disposals for free rent.  As I think about it now, they got one heck of a good deal on that.  80 work/week plus my talent as a handyman to boot!!!  I would probably say that was worth about 3 times what we traded for.  

None the less we enjoyed the freedom of not living on the base.

We would get up at 6am, eat some breakfast and then go to the office by 7am and pick up the days orders.  These apartments were so expensive that the managers had to do everything they could to convince people to rent them.  There were three styles of furniture, Med, Modern & something else.  There were two colors of appliances, Mustard and Green. (1971 remember??)  And there were both twin and double beds.

Everyday we would have to change the green refrigerator in Building 1 with a mustard on in Building 6.  (Each building had about 40 apartments.)  Then switch the double bed in Apt. 302 with the queen in Apt. 105 and change the ......  Well you get the picture.  I learned how to carry a full queen mattress up 3 flights of stairs in one shot just by pressing straight into it with my hands.

At the moment I don’t remember having elevators but there must have been since we didn’t hall the reefers up and down stairs.  We did do a lot of switching from one apt. to another and moving stuff from the attics to the different apts. and back.  It was a constant furniture shuffle.

If and when we ever got caught up on that then I would do the ‘gripes’; complaints from tenants about something.  The most common one was garbage disposals being jammed with artichoke leaves.  They are actually just rope and do not go down at all.  They just grind out all the green and then leave the rope clogging up the knives.

We used this one toilet cleaner that turned feminine napkins to a black goo.  Pretty cool stuff for unclogging toilets but I am not sure how good it was for the pipes!!

During that summer sometime is when we got our first lesson in the passions of other people.  A couple moved in next door to us.  As in most places the bedrooms adjoin common walls and the living rooms & kitchens adjoin common walls.  This keeps the music and cooking noises isolated  to the proper rooms.

Anyway it was warmer on the third floor apartments and we kept our bedroom windows open.  A new couple moved into the apt. next to ours.  He was a pretty big husky guy but she was one cute little blond.  I would say now about 5-5 and 120 lbs. maybe.  Just a cute gal!!

Almost every night during that summer around 1-2 in the morning we would suddenly start to hear her pant and moan and let loose with some very explicit verbal sayings that just absolutely would turn us on.  I had never heard anyone have sex before, and with the thoughts of her in our minds and getting so much pleasure out of it was just very erotic.  I think Larry used to fantasize about her and masturbate during these sessions.  I thought it was very funny and interesting all at the same time.

Liz coming down:

Liz came down to visit me one weekend while I lived at the apartment.  I picked her up at the airport and took her ‘home’.  Larry left for the weekend.  I have no idea where he went to, he just was not around.  

We went out to dinner, saw some of the touristy thing around San Diego.  I made dinner for us one night, BBQ I think.  But the thing I remember the most is our sleeping together.  I can remember being naked with her and I can remember wanting to have sex, but we never did.  I honestly have no idea why we didn’t but we didn’t.  Down deep I remember being very proud of this fact.  Now I wish we had of.  

 

 

 

USS Hancock 1972 CVA 19
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I spent 4 years in the Navy and was only on a boat or ‘ship’ as they like to call it for 5 months.  It was a pretty neat experience and I have a lot of memories from it.  I was on the 1972 WESPAC Cruise as part of VFP-63 DET-1.

VFP 63 DET-l Was formed on 12 0ct 1971 as a permanent detachment within the parent, shore based squadron based in Miramar, CA. Upon Hancock’s departure from Alameda, 7 January 1972, DET-I became, operationally, a part of CVW-21, functioning essentially as a small squadron within the Air Wing.

This small, close knit organization, consisting of 50 enlisted men. 4 pilots, 2 photographic interpretation officers and 4 RF-3G aircraft, is tasked with the responsibility of providing photographic reconnaissance for CVW-21. This mission is comprised of several facets, post-strike Bomb Damage assessment, pre-strike target development coverage, merchant ship surveillance and any other specifically assigned missions.

The RF-8G flown by DET-1 is unarmed and a derivative of the F-8 Fighter aircraft. It is equipped with 4 cameras which can provide horizon to horizon. oblique and wide angle, normal and telephoto vertical coverage.  In spite of its 15 year age, this aircraft is fast, agile and highly competitive with newer types of mission effectiveness.
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Figure 18  An RF-8G VFP-63 plan on launch
.
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Figure 19  The VFP-63 Detachment 1, USS Hancock CVA 19
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Figure 20 Close  up of the above group

Not a very good picture, but notice the 1970’s long sideburns!!  Under that ‘dog dish’ was a ton of hair too, down to just off my collar, a consensus of Admiral ‘Zummy’ Zumwalt.  I did the beard and mustache thing once too.  But only once!!

Life on board a ship of any kind can be what you make it.  For the most part on a smaller ship like a tender or even a destroyer you know the boat within a week.  Everything on it is the same all the time.  On board a carrier it is so big that there is a ton of things to do and see.  It never seems to be the same simply because there is so much going on.  Let me give you a feeling of what went on and describe a typical day on board.  

Reveille @ 0600.  Actually as I say that I am not sure we really had much of a reveille.  Because of my rate, AT, I work ‘Flight Maintenance’ which meant we had to be on duty for all launches and recoveries.  This normally went from the first launch at 7am until the last recovery between 8 or 9pm.  Therefore we had to be ready by 7am or a bit earlier to be on call for the first launch.  Since our planes were ‘photo birds’ they couldn’t actually be over target to early due to shadows and lighting.  Therefore our first planes actually went out a lot later then the first flights but we still had to be around during ‘flight opps’.  I normally was up early, took a shower and was in ‘the shack’ before anyone else.  That is just me, but it also saved a lot of congestion in the ‘head’ as everyone else was getting up.  Dress for the day was dungarees, both pants and shirt, Boon Docker boots and normally the light jacket.  We must have had a laundry or something because I don’t remember actually doing my clothes up.  I just always seemed to had them.   Some guys, I think ship’s company types, drug their laundry in a net bag off the Fantail of the ship on a long rope.  The boat moved at a pretty good clip, especially during flight opps and sometimes the bags would rip in the wake and we would watch a pair of pants slowly work themselves out and reach freedom in the open ocean.  One guy came back and said, ‘Didn’t you see the bag ripping?”  “Yep.”, someone replied.  ‘Wasn’t ours to mess with.”  Sort of seemed like a dumb idea anyway!!!

‘The Shack’ was simply a small compartment just off  the Hanger Deck.  I remember it was on the Port side of the ship and there was one long ladder that went from the Flight Deck all the way down to the Hanger deck in one run.  Most ladders were broken half way down which was difficult to negotiate when you slide them.  

Since we only had 4 plans, and only 3 up at any one time, our ‘work’ consisted mostly of watching launches and recoveries.  If everything went OK then there was no work to even do.  Mostly we would wait on recoveries and ask the pilots if there were any radio gripes.  If there were then we would get them taken care of before the next launch.

For the most part there were only a couple of pieces of gear to even worry about; 1) the Radio Pak, 2) the TACAN box.  These were the main pieces of gear that would break down.  The TACAN was the navigation box.  It was only about a 12” cube, black and had an easy access panel on the nose of the plane.  We could change a TACAN in about 5 minutes.  The radio pak was a different story.  In one respect it was easy because there were only two plugs that needed to be hooked connected.  However, one was antenna wire and was at the very bottom of the pak.  The pak itself was approximately 30” in diameter and looked like a large English muffin.  All the radio equipment was located inside and it weight 80lbs.  This had to be un-hooked from the mounts on top then lifted out.  Doesn’t sound like a big deal until you realize you are standing on the back of a plane approximately 8’ off the deck.  One guy on the deck would lift it up the side of the plane.  You had to pull it up over the back of the plane while straddled the plane itself, then lift it up 30” to clear the access hole and drop it in without actually dropping it!  If your day was really bad then you got to install one, test it out, pull it out and install another one because the first was no good.  They seemed to be incredibly fragile.

I dreaded having to install radio paks simply because they were so heavy.

We never actually fixed the equipment.  We simply pulled the box out of the plane, put in a new one and checked if the problem was solved.  If not then we would move onto the next most common cause of a failure.  Sometimes this was the gage or dial.  Sometimes it was the switch box.  We just kept moving down the list until the system finally worked.

The equipment itself was sent, along with the ‘gripe’ to the Electronics shop for repair.  We would then simply re-install them in the next plane that had a problem.  With only 3 planes to deal with it was a pretty simple job most of the time.  I remember once where a wire broke.  We replaced all the equipment on the plane and it still didn’t work.  So we ended up running down the wires and located the break.  Plane went back out on the next launch, but it was down for a week in the meantime.

It took 90 minutes to re-position the flight deck from the last recovery to the next launch.  During this time if we were not working on one of the planes, we were pretty much free to do anything we wanted to.  Sleep in The Shack, play cards, read, anything.  Cards were a constant source of entertainment and some of the guys were very good.

There was this one guy that always wore a skull cap.  His name was Gruber.  Under the skull cap was a ton of hair that he kept matted down and hidden until he was off duty and let it go.  It was funny because we all knew what he was doing but for some reason none of the officers ever caught on.  Gruber was so good at Hearts & Spades he was impossible to beat.  We never played for money.  It was just always for fun and that is a good thing.  He would have cleaned out everyone.  He could be playing for just a few discards and then he would suddenly lay his hand down and say…. “I believe the rest are mine.”  He was always right too.  He was so quiet and laid back you never thought he was just wailing on you.  Look at the score and sure enough…. Grub was way out in the lead.

Jim Cassidy played cards from time to time, but he was really a lot more gifted then that.  He made stuff.  When I say ‘stuff’ he made some cool stuff.  Here are some pictures of his cannon and the model rocket.  Hew as amazing to say the least.  I would love to know what he is doing now.  If he is not in Engineering he missed his calling.  The rocket ‘picture’ was also invented by Jim.  I used my camera but it was his idea to create hook up a strobe light to go off at the same time as the rocket fired. I set up my camera with a wide open shutter.  Then he electrically fired the rocket which flashed the strobe which exposed the slide.  I had to wait 2 weeks to get these pictures back but man when I did, everyone was very impressed with how they turned out!

The other pastime was simply getting from one place to another on the boat.  Ships can be a lot of fun if you simply take what they have to offer and create a game out of using it.  One of those small bits of fun are ‘Knee Knockers’.  Ships are built to stay on TOP of the water.  The enemy wants to supercede this design and put them either under the water, or even deeper in the water in the case of submarines.  I have mentioned ‘compartments’.   The entire ship is put together like building blocks with each block being a compartment.  Each compartment can be sealed off to maintain the air inside it.  If enough compartments are holding air, the ship remains where it was designed to be, on top of the water; albeit possibly not floating exactly upright.  ‘Knee Knockers’ are the 24” divider under a water tight door.  They are called ‘knee knockers’ for a very good reason.  If you try to just step over it as you pass through a door….they ‘knock your knees’.  Shins actually which really is worse.

Therefore you have to develop a method to negotiate these door ways as there are literally hundreds of them on a carrier.  Very few places didn’t have a water tight door into the compartment.  Therefore I found a game of simply ‘running the knee knockers’.   It took a certain amount of speed to accomplish the proper pass through, so you literally did run.  As you come to a door you had to duck and pull your feet up both at the same time.  (The water tight door was only 5’ high.)  In order to accomplish this feet of being tucked in a ball going through the door you simply reached out with your hands and did a ‘press’ on the sides of the door frame itself.  This allowed you to pull your legs through, duck your head and your forward momentum would carry you through the door.  It was not unlike running hurdles where you had to get the timing just right.  I found a long passage way someplace below the Flight deck that had no doors leading off from it, therefore no possibility of crashing into anyone ‘running knee knockers’ from the other direction.  This passageway had about 12 watertight doors in it and it was a lot of fun just to run and perfect the technique.  You were constantly encouraged to make it right too since a missed head duck hurt like hell, and a toe caught by not bringing up your feet far enough sprawled you out on the deck in very humiliating manner.

The other method of running knee-knockers was to grip the hand hold above the door and swing through.  The problem with this method was that no rhythm could be created since your body was going both directions on the swing.  It was just cumbersome and inefficient in my way of thinking.  I never did like doing it that way unless there were a bunch of guys and you had to go slow.  Then it worked.

The other pastime onboard a ship is ‘Sliding ladders’.  This was actually more fun simply because it takes you back to your childhood and how fun it was to go sliding.  Of course this is big-boy sliding and involves a ladder and not a slide.  ‘Ladders’ on a ship are any form of stair way, especially if they have a hand rail.  It is the handrail that is the slide itself.  All you had to do was put your hands on the rail, lock your arms, pick up your feet and ride down the rail.  Calluses built up on the heels of your hands where you ride.  Stomach muscles are worked because you pull your legs into an ‘L’ position in order to get them out of the way.  Both of these methods of travel were very aerobic in nature!!.

The long ladders were the most fun since you got up a lot of speed and it took some skill just to make it to the bottom without either falling off or losing your balance.  I would search the ship for long ladders to go anyplace just to slide them.  Short ladders were also fun because they were fast and you normally had to negotiate a turn in the ladder to continue on down.  A downside to the turns was the hand rail itself.  If you didn’t get your timing down perfect you would twist a finger in the turn of the hand rail and then that would prevent you from sliding for a day or two.  It was always a challenge and always fun.

The entire day was taken up in this manner; waiting on a recovery/launch, working on a plane or playing cards.  Since we were ‘on duty’ for flight opps it was our job to hang around until opps were over.  Sometimes that would be 9pm at night when our last plane came in.  At the point that Flight opps were over we were off work for the day.

Chow was always just a deck or two away.  We would either go down at around 6pm during a rotation, or wait until after flight opps was over.  Food aboard the carrier was actually pretty good.  For the most part it was always fresh.  If were ‘on the line’ for more then 30 days we normally ran out of fresh milk and things of that nature.  But that always seemed to be the only time.  Most of our line period were 21 days or less so it was never that big a deal.

Dinners were the normal for a typical American household at the time, meat and potatoes mostly with salad and a vegetable.  Dessert was pies, cakes, at certain times ice cream.  Every now and then cookies.  Since I seldom eat dessert it was never that important to me.  As I write this I am thinking what my favorite meal was.  That would be easy, the one night I can remember having ‘Surf & Turf’ night;  Lobster and Steak.  I love fish and it was a real treat.  They only did it one time and it was within about 3 days of being in port so they had brought aboard the lobster at that time.  It was really good.

While at sea there was normally a movie every night at 9pm.  At this time I am not sure if I ever even went to many of them.  I had other things to do so although I went to a few it was not a habit.  Besides at this time in the Navy smoking was still allowed.  I have never smoked and to be crammed into a room full of guys sucking on cigs was not my idea of a good time.  I would rather spend my time in bed reading.

The Rack

During the first days of being onboard we were assigned ‘racks’ or beds.  The sleeping compartment was down below the Hanger deck so it was quiet.  We didn’t have any port holes so I believe we were actually a deck or two below the water line.  (I thought about that a time or two and then just put it out of my head and made it go away!!)

The racks were tiered 3 high, in a 7’ compartment.  The top rack had the most room to sit up in so I picked that one.  Most of the guys wanted a bottom rack so they didn’t have to crawl into it.  They were all built into the bulkheads so it was not like they were free standing. 

Racks were positioned end to end so that only 3” separated two guys feet.  They were also separated sided to side by a 24” cube stack of metal boxes that were used as the locker.  I picked the top rack for two reasons; 1) you could actually sit up in the bed and read or what ever, 2) you had the top of the top most locker that could be used as a nightstand.  This simply increased your living space by 4 square feet.  To me the extra real estate was well worth the climb up to the top.

This particular rack also had some other amenities that most thought were objections and the reason it was left to last.  There was a 4” pipe that ran over the middle of the rack itself.  This pipe was actually the fresh air vent coming from outside to the living spaces.  This pipe was also the reason most guys thought the bottom bunk in the corners was the best rack because the outlet or this fresh air was about 12” off the floor in all four corners of the compartment.  This gave that bottom rack always fresh air, the ability to simply crawl into it, and the floor for setting stuff on.  To most this constituted the most coveted rack.

I tend to live outside the box.  I don’t ‘follow’ the crowd just because they are all jumping off the same cliff.  Somehow that just seems a bit stupid to say the least.  Anyway to my way of thinking the top rack had more potential.

· 4 square feet of extra storage space

· No one crawling up your bed to get to the top rack

· No dust bunnies in bed with you

· No dirty feet, or legs hanging around your face

· And… if you simply drill holes the entire length of the air vent pipe over your rack you had all the fresh air you wanted!!  If you drilled them on the back side of the pipe itself, you know only hid those holes, which I am totally sure was like so against every ships manual of good conduct, you also had ‘air control’ as all you had to do was remove the towel hanging over the pipe and the air blew down the wall instead of onto you.  It was one sweet set up to say the least!!

So I had no problem dealing with the top rack at all.  In fact I sort of liked it actually.  

Oh, there was on other minor problem with a top rack.  The racks themselves could only go up to the wall as close as that vent pipe going down.  In other words the racks sat away from the wall about 8” total.  This was a hazard since at night you could be tossing over your pillow and have to crawl down to get it.

With an ingenious mind and a ruler this too was solved.  I made measurements of the rack, the pipe, the locker, the corner of the compartment, the height of the space from the bed to the ceiling, etc.  I drew up a design of what I wanted it all t look like including small locker space with shelves, and a bunk top extension to prevent pillow ejection.

I did all this in the first 3 weeks we were on the ship and before we shipped out to join the festivities in the Tonkin Yacht Club.  On the final leave that we had, I took my plans home and bought a sheet of ¼’ plywood and built my entire ‘Navy Bunk Mate’ in the garage.  However it was to big to put together so I held it together with clamps to verify all the dimensions and then marked each piece, took it apart, wrapped it up in paper, included all the nails, screws, etc for assembly and then packed it into my sea bag.  Upon arrival to the ship I immediately went downstairs to my rack and began assembling my project.  I had people looking at me like I was a nut.  I had brought along a small hammer and a hand drill.  As I put the ‘Navy Bunk Mate’ together people were in awe at what I had done.  When I was finished I literally snapped it into place and opened the door to the little locker.  I placed my alarm clock, and other assorted items in the tray and shelves and proceeded to complete my ‘house’.  (Any place I laid my head was my house and this was going to be the best house I could manage.)

I strung a wire along the outside edge of the rack next to the ceiling.  On this wire I placed the curtain that I had my mom sew to the specified dimensions.  It was quite colorful actually and I was very proud of it.  I then pulled my curtain closed, pulled out my drill and began drilling the holes in the air vent pipe, pulled out my towel and draped it over the pipe to direct the air coming out of the backwards pointing holes, downward onto my bed.  Guala!!  My rack was now complete for the next six months.

I never told a soul about the air vent.  However when I left the ‘Navy Bunk Mate’ stayed with my rack and I am told that my rack was one that was now auctioned off as being the most prized on the ship, or at least in that compartment.

That was my rack and where I spent a considerable amount of time during the off hours.  Lights out came at either 10 or 11pm at night.  Sleeping on the carrier was probably the most relaxing place I have ever been.  A carrier is so big that it just gentle rocks in the swells of the ocean.  That rock simply rocks you to sleep and allows the cares and troubles of the world to simply drift away.  It was really amazing.

Out of the ordinary happenings on board the ship.

‘Stand down’: ”Now here this.  Now here this.  The Captain has declared today a stand down day.  Flight operations are canceled.  The flight deck is open for personnel.”  The announcement is piped over the entire ship.  No flights.  No work.. more or less.  The flight deck was closed down and we had free run of the entire place.  Some guys played football.  (There was no second chance from a missed pass.)  A lot of guys, me included, just laid out on the deck and soaked up the sun.  The flight deck was a strange place without any planes or the normal activities.  It was just weird.  Of course Jim Cassidy was lighting off rockets and someone made tennis ball gun.  It was a lot of fun and really did seem to break the stress and daily routine.  

It didn’t last long though, or at least didn’t seam to.  Before long the sun was beginning to drop in the West just off the Starboard bow.  The deck was secured and planes were pushed onto the elevators and brought top side.  The were positioned for the next morning’s launch and all was ready to go back to work the next day.

 

Port:  We made Port, or for ‘land-laubers’ docked about once a month.  Different places mostly but more often then not it was the Philippines.  We did go to Taipei once and then we landed in Hong Kong one time.  Those times were exciting and scary all at the same time, 
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History of CVA-19

History notes concerning the USS Hancock CVA-19 were found at:

http://www.carriersg.org/download.htm
ATTACK CARRIERS (CV, CVA, CVB, CVL, CVAN, CVN)
The CVB and CVL designations were established within the original CV designation on 15 July 1943. CVA replaced CV and CVB on 1 October 1952; CVL went out of use on 15 May 1959. CV and CVN replaced CVA and CVAN on 30 June 1975 to designate the multi-mission character of aircraft carriers after the decommissioning of the last CVS in 1974. 

During World War II (7 December 1941 to 2 September 1945) the Navy operated 110 carriers (includes those designated CV, CVE and CVL). It commissioned 102 carriers (includes those designated CV, CVE and CVL) during the above mentioned time frame. The Navy also operated two training carriers during World War II with the designation IX. They were USS Wolverine (IX 64) and USS Sable (IX 81). 

Original Classes 

Langley Class:     1 ship (CV 1) 

Lexington Class:   2 ships (CV 2 and 3) 

Ranger Class:      1 ship (CV 4) 

Yorktown Class:    2 ships (CV 5 and 6) 

Wasp Class:        1 ship (CV 7) 

Hornet Class:      1 ship (CV 8) 

Essex Class        24 ships; CV 9 through 21, 31 through 35, 

37 through 40, 45, and 47. 

(Long-Hull         Of these numbers, 14, 15, 19, 21, 32-34,

Essex Class or     36-40, 45 and 47 are sometimes referred

Ticonderoga        to as “Long-Hull” Essex class or

Class)             Ticonderoga Class. 

 

Independence Class 9 ships, CVL 22 through 30. 

Midway Class       3 ships, CVB 41 through 43. 

Saipan Class       2 ships, CVL 48 and 49. 

Enterprise Class   1 ship, CVAN-65. 

Forrestal Class    4 ships, CVA 59 through 62. 

Kitty Hawk Class   4 ships, CVA 63, 64, 66 and 67. 

Nimitz Class       9 ships, CVN 68 through 76

Hull No. and Name: 19 Hancock 
Date of Commission: 15 Apr 1944 ; Decommission or Loss***: 30 Jan 1976
Designations: CV 19; CVA 19 (1 Oct 1952); CV 19 (30 Jun 1975 )
Conversion Project*/Date completed: 27C (Mar 1954); 17C (Nov 1956)
Comments: Stricken 31 Jan 1976

*** There were a number of carriers that were decommissioned and then re-commissioned for further service. Only the final decommissioning date is listed for these carriers. Several carriers were also placed out of commission during major renovations or yard periods

HANCOCK, CV 19  Apr 15 44
”Fighting Hannah” was commissioned this date at the Boston Navy Yard. Governor of Massachusetts, L. Saltonstall was the guest speaker. CPT Fred C. Dickey was placed in command. The John Hancock Life Insurance Company lobbied hard through a War Bond campaign to have this carrier named Hancock.
    

HANCOCK, CV 19,   June 12, 1944
Fighting Hannah had not received her nickname yet. This date she is beginning her abbreviated shakedown cruise from Norfolk. Operations were held in the Atlantic and Caribbean Sea, and Gulf of Paria. One port of call was Port au Prince, Trinidad, BWI. “.where it was too much work and not enough to play to allow us to try Port of Spain and the famed ‘Rum and Coca Cola’. We did get ashore once or twice, to small but beautiful Scotland Bay, where we swam in crystal waters”.  HANCOCK returned to South Boston Navy Yard on Jul 04 for post shakedown repairs. Here, the last leaves were given before she went off to war.
 HANCOCK, CV 19,   Apr 07 45
 “Fighting Hannah” received a bad bomb hit on a catapult while operating off Okinawa. Sixty-two sailors died, seventy-one were injured.
 
HANCOCK, CV 19,           SHANGRI-LA, CV 38,            COWPENS, CVL 25 October 21, 1945
This was a day to remember at the San Pedro (Los Angeles) anchorage. These three combat veterans of the Asiatic-Pacific Theater experienced their joyful homecoming to the United States and a tumultuous greeting from the port this date. COWPENS earned 12 battle stars, HANCOCK was awarded 4 battle stars, and SHANGRI-LA received two stars. An open house would be held on Navy Day, Oct. 27th.
HANCOCK, CVA 19,  February 15, 1954,  Re-commissioned as Modernized Essex
HANCOCK on this date was re-commissioned at the Puget Sound Naval Shipyard. She had recently completed the SCB-27C Essex class upgrade. Only a total of 7 ships had this upgrade making them the most powerful ships of the 24 Essex class carriers. Capt. W. S. Butts was given command. Hannah’s first trip was to her NAS North Island homeport. Before her next overseas deployment HANCOCK hosted testing of ten Regulus missiles. After one Westpac she entered San Francisco Naval Ship Yard (Aug. 24, 1955) for the SCB-125 upgrade and modernization

HANCOCK, CVA 19,  April 6, 1957,  Air Task Group Two is Air Component
HANCOCK deployed this date for her 2nd Westpac cruise from Alameda. Capt. Charles J. Odend’hal Jr. was the ship’s CO. Her air group was a hybrid “Air Task Group Two” (ATG). Basically, the ATG was a reshuffling of existing air groups. This ATG-2 was composed of only 4 squadrons. One was VMF 214(AW), the ‘Black Sheep’, flying Banshee aircraft. This Marine squadron flew aboard at Hawaii. ‘Fighting Hannah’ and ATG-2 plied the waters of East China Sea, South China Sea, Philippine Sea and Sea of Japan while in the western Pacific. Some port calls were: Yokosuka, Sasebo, Kobe, Iwakuni, Hiroshima, and Hong Kong. This cruise ended Sep. 19, 1957 at Alameda.

HANCOCK, CVA 19,  February 7, 1959,  New CO Taught Doolittle Raiders
HANCOCK, this date, received a new commanding officer, Capt. Henry L. Miller. In 1942 Miller was the lead instructor for the Army pilots that would bomb the Japanese home islands. He taught the B-25 aviators to take off on a short field, the size of flight deck of HORNET, CV 8. The pilots were not told why a unusually short field takeoffs were essential. On Apr. 18, 1942 Col. James Doolittle and his squadron bombed the Japanese targets after being launched from HORNET.

HANCOCK, CVA 19,   November 10, 1965
After a short 5-month turnaround HANCOCK leaves her San Diego homeport this date for another Vietnam tour, her 2nd. Again Carrier Air Wing 21, tail code, NP, is embarked. ‘Hannah’ makes 143 line days. Losses are heavy. She loses 16 planes in combat. Three MiG-17 aerial victories were garnered by pilots of VF-211 flying F-8E Crusaders. Additionally, Air Wing 21 incurred operational losses of nine aircraft. With a Unit Commendation earned she returns home on July 21, 1966.

HANCOCK,  CVA 19,  June 17 1966,  Life in a No. Vietnam POW Camp
Flying off HANCOCK Ltjg. Paul E. Galanti’s A-4C Skyhawk was shot down over North Vietnam on this date. His unit was CVW-21 (NP693),VA-216. For the next 2,432 days he was a POW under trying circumstances. Galanti endured over a year in solitary confinement, daily propaganda intrusions, and meager substance rations. Source: HOOK, Spring 1998, had a 2-page story about his POW hardship activities and Tonkin Gulf Yacht Club by Rene J. Francillon 

HANCOCK, CVA 19,   October 5, 1971
CAPT Albert J. Monger became Hancock’s 23rd Skipper, 5 October 1971. He then became the CO of the US Navy’s oldest attack aircraft.  CAPT Monger showed that he was not only the skipper of machinery, but, also, the skipper of men. CAPT Monger had previously   served aboard HANCOCK. He also served in the Korean War, flying combat missions with Fighter Squadron 191 off  PRINCETON, CV 37. In May 1966 he was made commanding officer of Carrier Air Wing 21. His final rank was rear admiral.                                                   
            by Ed Rostine, ex HANCOCK
Ed Rostine, also, notes that there are 22 pages of Vietnam War Aircraft Carriers Order of Battle available for downloading from the following URL. It begins with 1963 cruises and ends with the 1975-1976 cruise of ORISKANY, CV 34. Given are cruise dates, air wing, tail codes, and squadron designation and type of aircraft. http://www.history.navy.mil/branches/ordbat.htm.

1972 WESTPAC/VIETNAM DEPLOYMENTS
USS HANCOCK (CVA-19) with CVW-21 (7 Jan 1972 to 3 Oct 1972)

          VA-55                                   A-4F

          VA-164                                  A-4F/TA-4F

          VA-212                                  A-4F

          VF-24                                   F-8J

          VF-211                                  F-8J

          VFP-63 Det 1                            RF-8G
          VAQ-135 Det 5                           EKA-3B

          VAW-lll Det 2                           E-lB

          HC-l Det 7                              SH-3G

HANCOCK, CV 19,   Apr 13 75
”Fighting Hannah” was a carrier involved in Operation Eagle Pull, the evacuation of ground security forces from Phnom Penh, Cambodia as it fell to the Communist forces. Her crew received the Humanitarian Service Medal for the successful mission and the following evacuation of South Vietnamese later in the month. Eagle Pull was successful, everything went smooth and was completed with no causalities. We will have a fuller article on Operation Frequent Wind.
HANCOCK, CVA 19   Apr 29 75  
Smoking HANCOCK Arrives off  Saigon. See Carrier Capsules No. 16. This article is from one who was at the evacuation scene off Saigon, Vietnam. 
  
      “ I was the officer of the deck aboard the flagship BLUE RIDGE, LCC 19. She was an amphibious command ship during Operation Frequent Wind, the evacuation of Saigon. There were not enough helicopters in theater to support the refugee evacuation so Hancock was hustled out from the West Coast with a deck load of helicopters she left her air wing behind.  USS Midway had also been sent to the operation without her air wing in order to provide another flight deck for refugee ops”.

       “We were anxiously awaiting Hancock’s arrival on the morning of the 28th of April (if I recall correctly).  This ship had a peculiarity that always stuck in my mind - it seems that every time I ever saw her, she was making black smoke (ships are not supposed to do this normally). Anyway, while I was on watch we were tracking a surface radar contact closing the force at high speed.   When the contact was at about 28 miles looked through my binoculars and saw a plume of smoke on the contact’s bearing (visual range from the bridge was about 9 miles).   I called the Captain and told him that I had Hancock in sight.   He replied that she was not due for another hour yet; how could I possibly see her?   I just told him that Hancock was the only ship that I had ever seen that could make enough smoke to be seen 28 miles away.  An hour later, Hancock joined up. As a sidelight, some of the helicopters were USAF. They were instructed to land aboard MIDWAY, CVA 41, only.  MIDWAY had the largest flight deck (area-wise) of  any carrier in the fleet and the admiral figured that the Air Force guys had a better chance of landing safely there than aboard a frigate or something”. 
Submitted by Rick Quijada.
HANCOCK, CVA 19   Apr 29 75
Operation Frequent Wind, the Evacuation of Saigon and Vietnam. Along with MIDWAY CVA 41; CORAL SEA CVA 43; and ENTERPRISE, CVAN 65; HANCOCK had one of her finest moments. Rushed from Operation Eagle Pull she began evacuations early on the morning of the 29th. Marine helicopters went to shore to pick up evacuees from the American embassy. As they left incoming Vietnam Air Force planes began to arrive en masse. General quarters was called. NCCM Cortland R. “Corky” Johnson, former Ass’t Coordinator, ACSG, aboard HANCOCK at the time wrote this account for ACSG. These are excerpts from a 3-page article.
      
”South Vietnamese pilots began to land, their first and only carrier quals. Their last flight for their country. Ton Son Nhut was burning, and large black clouds of smoke were billowing into the sky. As soon as they touched down, we met them, disarmed them,   and escorted them and their passengers below. ... I was in charge of a processing detail. It soon became almost too much. After a delousing spray their names and personal data was taken by ENs and PNs. At first it was a mass of disorganized, frightened, and confused humanity: people of every age, color and description: military people, old people, sick people, babies, etc. I still marvel at the magnificent job our great sailors and marines did in caring for them.” At 1952 hours, Apr 29, the last helicopter lifted off the embassy roof carrying Marine security guards.
HANCOCK, CVA 19   May 03 75
While NIMITZ was being commissioned, HANCOCK was at Subic Bay, Philippines at that time. She was debarking over 2,000 refugees from the fall of Saigon to the Communists that spelled the end of United States’ efforts to secure South Vietnam.
HANCOCK, CVA 19 and ORISKANY, CVA 34,  June 30, 1975,  Re-designations
Both HANCOCK and ORISKANY this date received administrative designations as ‘all-purpose aircraft carriers, to CV 19 and CV 34 respectively. However, neither carrier ever served in this capacity with a modified air wing that included anti-submarine warfare units. Other administrative designations of Essex class carriers were made to “CVS” but they were never operated in that service. We thank 3 readers who brought this to our attention.

Release June 1972

As June approached I knew my time in the service was coming to an end.  Although I had spent almost 4 years in the Navy it seemed funny to be thinking about actually going home and no longer having the pressure of the everyday life.  

I was still on the Hancock as part of the Tonkin Yacht Club 


when I received my orders to report to the Philippines for a flight back to San Fransciso.   To be honest, at this time I do not know my true feelings or what I did.  I do remember getting off the boat in the P.I. and then staying at a Missionary’s house someplace in Subic Bay for a few nights.  I am not sure why this happened but I remember working on a jig saw puzzle they had out.  It was just so natural to sit down and begin putting pieces together after all the years of puzzles we had at home.

I left the Philippines on a military American Airlines jet and flew directly to Andrews AFB in San Bernedino, CA. and was met at the airport by Liz and my parents.  It was a great feeling to be off the plane and know that I no longer had to wake up at 0530 for duty, or worry about how I looked.

Leaving Andrews AFB we drove north back to the San Fernando Valley.  Dad drove because I hadn’t for quite sometime and didn’t really feel comfortable.  I sat in the back seat and hugged and kissed on Liz.  It was so good to be with her after all this time away.  I got a real good feeling of what the WWII sailors went through.

Although I was off the ship and now back home, I was still not totally out of the Navy yet.  I had two weeks of ‘mustering out’ to go through.

These two weeks was in the form of driving from the Valley to Long Beach for ‘muster’ each day at noon.  Liz and I would drive for 2 hours in traffic, wait around for 20-30 minutes and then go search the Long Beach area for things to do.  We visited all local attractions, some museums and anything else we could find.

The second week we attended the Bill Gothard ‘Basic Youth Conflicts’ seminars.  I would say ‘Here’ every day at noon and then we would drive over to BYC and just relax and sit aroind and wait for the evening seminar.  Once we brought the hibachi and made hamburgers out the back of the car for dinner.

On my last night in the Navy I received my final pay check and we went to dinner at the Velvet Turtle.  I felt so good having just been officially released from the Service.  I remember I had a cheteau briand that totally melted in your mouth.  

The next several months I was thrown into a turmoil of what to do.  I had the dream of Forestry in the back of my mind yet it was difficult for me to actually get down to work, move away from the ‘being taken care of lifestyle’ into the real world.  Len and I played tennis a lot.  I learned to play in combat boots and jeans.  My boots were straight from Vietnam, the jungle boots. 

By September I had registered for school to finish my degree in Design Drafting.  From there I also began the course of study into Natural Resources.  When I went to Cal Poly, San Luis Obispo I concentrated in Forestry.  I graduated in 1976 with a Bachelor’s degree in Natural Resources, Concentration in Forestry.  This was all accomplished using the GI Bill.  Without that, I could never have made it through school.

After 3 years in San Luis Obispo, getting married, having a daughter, and having a disc ruptured in my back I graduated with a 3.0 average.

I worked in forestry for 9 years, then got into computers.  I was a programmer for 18 years then was moved into IT Security for the Fish and Wildlife Service.

What did my Navy experience teach me?  I learned I could take orders and do what was needed for now.  I learned that the world is bigger then me.  I learned that I could not control it all nor could I control anything part of it then me.  I learned that I could control me however, and how I acted, and reacted to the many circumstances I couldn’t control.

A letter from Christy

Hey dad, 

That is a really cool about Vietnam. I guess I never knew that you had any of those feelings. Guess I never took the time to ask you about your time in the navy, and your time over there. I am sorry. Sometimes things seem so easy and simple when in reality they are not. 

I am very happy that you have been able to not feel the guilt anymore and you can lead a more filling life helping others. It is cool what you wrote. I am proud of you. I love you very much, I hope that you do help others, there are some people that will love to not feel the guilt anymore and feel free to help also. Use what you have gained in knowledge to spread to others.   You can never have enough empathy and sympathy in the world. You Never know how your little pebble of kindness, Knowledge, and good will when thrown into that puddle of life will bounce, and how the ripples will spread, and to whom. The ripples may go further than ever thought.  Again I love you and wish you the best on this journey. More people appreciate what soldiers have done not only in Vietnam, but in other wars they just don’t always voice their thoughts. I love you!!! (can’t type it enough) 

Hope to talk to you soon

Your loving Daughter

Contacts

Tyler,

Nice to hear from you. I was on the Hancock from December of 1966-August of 1967 on a Westpac Cruise, so I guess we weren’t with VFP-63 at the same time. I also made a second Westpac Cruise with an almost immediate turnaround, leaving in December of ‘67 and returning in August of ‘68. I had a great three years, eight months and ten days in the navy, and my two tours in Westpac were memorable for the friendships I made and things I saw. 

thanks to the internet, I’ve been able to contact a couple of old shipmates from VFP-63 I haven’t talked to in over 30 years.

Good luck on your book.

Frank  

Frankpen File(‘mailto:FrankBoddn@aol.com’, ‘NEWWND’);
Thanks Frank. 

It is good to be in touch with others regardless of the reason.  I personally have had a lot of ‘survivor guilt’ over the past many years and being able to reach out like this is incredible.

Thanks for the note.

t

Frank,

 
---Original Message-----

From:
FrankpenFile(‘mailto:FrankBoddn@aol.com’, ‘NEWWND’); [mailto:FrankBoddn@aol.com] 

Sent:
Friday, May 18, 2001 11:13 PM

To:
marripenFile(‘mailto:marriott@quixnet.net’, ‘NEWWND’);
Subject:
Re: Jake’s ‘Yankee Station Guestbook


Tyler,


This survivor guilt you mentioned is something I can sort of relate to and have for many years but have NEVER spoken about it to anyone in 35 years because I don’t think anyone else in my  position has it.


You mentioned you had been in country in 70-71 and then in the navy.  My situation was that even though I made two Westpac tours, I was never in any danger, being 20 miles offshore.  The flight deck, although very limited duty there, was the closest I came to any danger.  


I recall being in the EM club at Subic Bay and being at a table with another young Marine who was there. He was totally drunk, and he was thanking us, the swabbies, for, as he put it, laying some bad napalm on the VC and making good gooks out of them.  His words.  I really felt sorry for that young kid and have always wondered what happened to him.  What he had been through was a million times worse than anything I was going through. For me, it was mainly just being away from my family and fiancée, and for him, well, you know what he was going through.  I’ve always hoped like hell he made it home.


Because I was safe on the Hancock and Ticonderoga, it’s always been hard for me to claim that I am a Vietnam vet.  I remember saying it only once, and my wife just sort of laughed and said, “You weren’t in Vietnam.” I felt like shit.  That was just in the last few years.  I guess that is my survivor’s guilt:  The fact I wasn’t in any danger, while other kids my age were truly in Vietnam getting killed, maimed or suffering psychological damage.  Make any sense to you?


Then the Gulf War breaks out, such as it was, and living here in San Diego, I watch the news and these sailors who were offshore for only days or weeks at a time are shown returning home to port and hailed as conquering heroes.  It really pissed me off.  Don’t get me wrong, they did their jobs just like we did, but the receptions were different.  So now these sailors talk about being Gulf War veterans, and I can’t even feel I can call myself a Vietnam vet.  I dunno.


Anyway, that’s the first time I’ve ever voiced these feelings to anyone, and I really don’t even know you, but there it is.  


Take care.


Frank

Dear Frank,

I am so glad you responded.  I can’t tell you what it does for me to know that my sharing has allowed you your own ‘freedom’.  I know what it has done for me.  

How are you and your doing?  No Tyler, you don’t need to thanks me.  I am the one Vietnamese American forever thankfully for your sacrifice, for your services to my freedom.. Once again, Tyler, on behalf of all Vietnamese Americans thank you for giving us our freedom.

I appreciate what you have to share.  One of the most fantastic aspects of this whole internet is that you don’t have to ‘know’ someone to share.  Knowing that there is someone that is willing to listen and truly understand is what is important.   I feel that ‘this’ is my greater purpose; the reason I got to come home; to be able to reach out to others and just let them know those feelings are valid and I respect you for sharing your feelings.

Thank you so much for opening up to me.

Before I let you go let me give you one other piece of information.  Several years ago I was introduced to a group of business people that teach and train individuals how to create income using the internet.  My very first business meeting they took a moment and gave recognition to all service men but made special tribute to Viet Nam vets.   Frank, that was the first time I was ever given any recognition.  I can’t tell you how good it felt to actually be recognized for having been over there.

Then about 3 months ago, during another business meeting I met a Viet Nam Refugee named Thoa Pham.  While talking to him my involvement in Viet Nam came up.  Within seconds I was crying and felt like all that I had endured for the last 30 years suddenly had purpose and meaning.  

Frank, here are the words from Thoa himself.  You did your part.  You are appreciated even if you never heard it before.

Tyler Marriott AT2

Hello there Tyler:

I am saluting you and all others Vets.  God blesses  you.  God blesses  America.  

See you on the freedom trail.          

Thoa Pham

 --
 

Veterans History Project

Oct. 28, 2002

Today I was invited to give my personal story for the Veterans History Project.  This consists of  up to a 2 hour taped interview and simply sharing about your own story of what you did in the service.

To say the least I was a little disappointed.  I would have thought it would have been a special thing with enthusiasm and eagerness to learn what a veteran had to share.  It didn’t quite seem to be that at all.  Maybe it was partly the room, an almost empty computer classroom  with one monitor and a printer, chairs piled up in the corner, papers scattered around the printer.

The back drop was that printer, and the block wall which made the building itself.  I guess I was sort of hoping for a hung flag to sit in front of, be served coffee or a drink, maybe even have a lapel mic to use instead of a hand held.

It was ok though.  I got to share.  And at one point the young gal that was doing the ‘interview’ was visibly moved and tears welled up in her eyes.  I was moved also to say the least.  I am hoping that my sharing about the pain Viet Nam vets have gone through made an impact on her.  She said it was her first interview.  Hopefully she will care to listen more and learn more and get more into it.

As of this date I don’t know when this will be included into the National Archives.  When I do learn of it I will include that information here.
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�'Muster' was being counted by name to make sure someone hasn’t broken during the night, or anytime and swam off to San Diego.


� “One wire” comes from the fact that it only took one wire to run any piece of equipment, positive.  Ground was the plane itself.


�‘Sent to the line’: The Line was the arresting cable on an aircraft carrier.  In the Navy this is the most dangerous job there is as cables can break, planes can crash, or you can be sucked up a jet intake or simply blown overboard by a misdirected exhaust.


� Wilbur is the nick name for Tom Wiseley, my life time friend.


�  Liz Price is the ‘2nd’ Liz in my life and followed on the heels of Liz Parker.  We knew each other from Chapel in the Canyon Choir.  As I drifted through high school, in and out of other relationships, Liz Price was always there for me.  Although I made the decision to go to Vietnam because of Liz Parker, Liz Price became my girlfriend and actually sustained me through the entire time in Vietnam and the rest of my Navy career.  Her love and support allowed me to eventually marry her.  We have been together for 27 years, have two wonderful children and one Grandson.


� AV gas is the aviation fuel used on all aircraft.  There are several different grades with jet fuel being the hottest.


� Evidently the plane was so named because of a pilot that came in to learn to fly it.  He took her up one day but when he attempted to land he just bounced her all the way down the runway and then had to take off again because he ran out of runway.  From that day on ‘Bouncing Bertha’ had the name and it seemed to have stuck pretty well.


� Admittedily ‘fricking’ was not exactly the term we used… but I thought I would keep this ‘PG’ rated instead of going for the ‘R’!


� This ‘official’ description was found on the web during some searches.


� Notice the small black square just under the Star and Bars insignia.  That is the right camera window
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